Aquilae: Bestiany of the Realm

Solo QuickStart

A Fantasy Roleplaying Supplement For Solo Adventuring

by J. Evans Payne





Author

J. Evans Payne

Monster & Character Art

Karen Martin, Jack Kaiser

Cover Scene Art

Jack Kaiser

Iconography

J. Payne

Design & Concept

Jason Payne

Developer

Jason E. Payne

Producer

Jason Evans Payne

Editor

J. E. Payne

Layout and Graphic Design

Jason E. P.

Cover Art and Logos

Enyap Nosaj

Cartography

J. Evans Payne

Typesetting

J. Snave Enyap

Proofreading

Beattin A. Dedhaurs

Indexing

2

Adobe InDesign

Special Thanks: Kickstarter Backers

Thank you for believing in me, when all I had to prove myself was an idea, a blurb, a handful of maps, and a dream.

The product you hold in your hands—or store on your hard drive—is a direct result of your faith, and support. I can't thank you enough.

Colophon

hardened Completionists

- Richard Loh
- Jeremy Siemon
- Paul S.
- Richard "Eskimo" Jones
- J Levine
- Please do not add my name to the credits
- Jeremy Suiter, a.k.a. Barek Firebeard
- Jeff "Sage" Trisoliere
- Martin St-Laurent
- Benjamin BernardOliver Volland
- Dr. Donald A. Turner
- Nicholas Harvey
- Thalji
- Amadan
- Bulldozers
- Redfuji6
- Jamie Van Lengen
- Roger Haxton
- H. Howell
- Cally Harper
- Steve "Sammeal" Reinhart
- Charles Marshall
- Rhel ná DecVandé
- Stormraider

hardened historians

- Kary "Realm Master K" Williams
- Luca Basset
- Stephen P.D, Kelley
- Stefan Friedl
- Tobias Widlund
- Justin Whitman
- ZoZoBop
- Richard Isaak
- Paul Lukianchuk
- Charles "Lukkychukky" Ulveling
- Fettzer
- Earl B. Bingham
- Archania's Workshop, LLC
- J. David Porter
- Kandy Dolan
- Eggyz
- V. Pesola

Mayor

- Bernie "Murkatos" McCormick
 Universal historians
- G. "Fluido" Fasano
- Danny Wilson
- Imban
- Gregory McWhirter

- David Stephenson
- Delnurfin Feadiel

hardened historians

- Andrew Lotton
- Robert Wiesehuegel
- A Wong
- J W Carroll
- Scott Crandall
- Anon
- Martin Blake

historians

- Lester Ward
- Bartholomew Jackson
- Andrew Weill
- Robert McNeal
- Étienne De Sloover
- ANton H. AinvarG
- Ben Fowler

Sam Hillaire

Aaron J. Schrader

Michael Schwan

Sam Rosenthal

Kevin J O'Brien

Jon R. Terry

Boberto

Nathan Blaylock

Stefan "Melwyn" Kruse

Brien "CriticalFailure" Borchardt

Citizens

J. Michael Lanaghan

Cory Aughenbaugh

MICHAEL J BENENSKY

Oliver von Spreckelsen

Jordi Rabionet Hernandez

Crispin Moakler

Jonathan Smith

Marc Margelli

Doug Berigan

Paul Fowler

Simon Hunt

Uwe Nagel

Ryan Lynn

Joe Medica

Loren Siebold

Anthony Allan

• Bill Weir

Ed Kowalczewski

philippe Roby

David vun Kannon

Joshua F. Knowles

MarsSenex

Chris Sulat

- Christian Klein
- Ender
- Kothoga
- Adam Jacobsen
- Terry Adams
- J.Goodwins
- Kohuda
- Andreas Monitzer
- Jasper Akhkharu
- Ashran Firebrand

Passersby

- J. Philip Ezrickson
- Elton Robb

Beastmasters

- Aaron Askam
- Aaron Dubreuil
- Adam Guy Hygema
- Adrian Playle
- Alan Kain
- Alex Beckham
- Alex Norris
- Andrew Strobl
- Anthony Holloway
- Barry Webster
- Benjamin Billings
- Benjamin Widmer
- Billy Dr William J Kennedy
- Bishop618 Michael LeVeque
- Brandon Lundy
- Brian Kaplinski
- Brian Perlis
- Brian Wilcox
- Caleb Coppola
- Calvin Dalais
- CaptainNorway Jim O'Sullivan
- Casey Allen
- Chris Carley
- Chris Thelland
- Christopher Christopher Blum
- Christopher Stoll
- Connor Connor O'Connell
- Cori J. Handsaker
- Cryolite Mark Smit
- Damion Meany
- Dana Boychuk
- Daniel Melssen
- Daniel Smoak
- Darklord Mariusz Ciolkowski
- David David Chayet
- David Lee Meese
- davrion David DeRocha
- Denise MacPherson
- Derek David Bruton
- Donevan Gillespie
- Douglas Douglas Dickson
- DragonsOfEverlastingDarkness -

Andrew Kei

- Dwayne Hauser
- Eagleam Michael Plamondon

Introduction

Michael E- Michael Ehmer

Mollath - Joseph Mollath

• Nathan - Nathan Hoy

Nathan - Nathan Best

Nick Fin - Nick Finocchiaro

nightwarden - Sean Babinsack

• P Aguilera - Patricio Aguilera

• Paul - Paul Mader Schramm

Per Hansen the Prickly Pear

Raf Bressel - Raphael Bressel

Rolando - Rolando Fernandez

Ryan Scott - Ryan David Scott

seraphim_72 - Charles Town

Shamus - Shamus Nicholson

• Soluna - Michael S Walker

Stephen - Stephen Peters

• Tevio - Michael Schwerin

3

• Surtyr - Mike Bohlin

ryan - Ryan Zimmerman

• Ryan - Ryan McCrary

Ryan von Rosenberg

Sage Hammons

Shane Devine

steffanie piche

Steven Lord

Steffen Sorensen

pebtam - Kenneth Chu

Redfuji6 - Scott Kehl

Morrison - Morrison Chandler

Michael Waters

Michael Wood

Mike Douglas

Liberman

Nathan Gross

Neil - Neil Coles

Nicholas Harvey

Nicholas Howie

Nick Esposito

Patrick Healey

Paul Dawkins

Paul Scadden

Phillip Nowicki

• Quinn Parrott

Rebecca Liu

• Reto M. Kiefer

Rick Lindhorst

Robert Mullins

Robert Papp

Rob James

Robert Seater

Ron Richmond

Ruben Flores

Ryan Brauer

Robert O'Rourke

Phil Stepp

Mike Wisnefsky

- Eric Eric Covill
- Eric Eric Bernier
- Erica Jin Erica Rapson
- Eric Gilson
- fontslinger Michael Janney
- Francis Gannon
- Frank Gillilan
- Frits Kuijlman
- FUNgineer Jonathan Shipman
- Gaby Brillon
- Glenn Glenn Parker
- Glenn Like
- Graves Zachary Grayer
- Greg Traeger
- Iain MacDougall
- Isaac Isaac Brewster
- Jack Brown
- Jacob Heuving
- James James Mould
- Jarrett Martin
- Jean-Nagual Taillefer
- Jeffrey Osthoff
- Jeremy Burger
- Jhewett Jason Hewett
- Jim Dortch
- J. Morris Jacky Morris
- Joel Joel Grote
- Joel McKinnon
- John John O'Connor
- John Bowlin
- John Gajdos
- Jonathan Dean
- Jon Giam Jon M Giam
- Jordan Jordan Meader
- Jordi Rabionet Hernandez
- Jose Humberto Castorena Hernandez
- J. Stewart Joshua Stewart
- Justin Martis
- Kellgoth Josh Gammell

• LA - Leonard Glenroy Lie

- Kenny Beecher
- Kent Taylor Kyle Ripley

Lee Perry

Lee Smith

Lynn Reed

• Luke Winter

Lucas Horton

Martin Heim

Love Smedfors

Matthew J Weidman

Maatthew Speight

Michael Ackerman

- Thomas Thomas Weber
- thompgc Guy Thompson
- Thorrmak William Gillaspie
- Tida Reid Nishimura
- Tim Baker
- Timlorde Timothy Millett
- Timothy Jordan Tim Jordan
- Timothy N Turba
- Thomas B. C. Thomas Burgos
- Topher Bostick Christopher Bostick
- TheDungeonTomb
- Travis Gudmunsen
- Valentin Casonguay-Harvey
- Viktor Davis
- Vince Mulhollon
- Vincent B Oettle
- Wade Cottell
- William Payne
- Zachary Rademan
- Zach Miller Acumen Solutions
- Zhaffar Zakaria Haffar
- Juergen barters
- Brian A Johnson
- Alan Peden
- prwarrior04 Benton Minges
- Mark A Mark M Asteris
- Eric Sward eric f sward
- Daniel harris
- Conclavidor Kenneth Kurtz
- Randy Smith
- Sarah Marie Harrell
- Josh Brubaker-Salcedo Joshua Brubaker
- Iluvatar Bastian Djuretic

- Rostow Christopher Hill
- David Marion
- David Franklin Queen

Zoo Patrons

- Aaron Harper
- Aaron Smith
- Blarghedy Timothy McPherson
- Callum Goulden
- Daekai Jared Wuest
- Dane Patterson
- David Egan
- Debra Lieven
- Erik Saltwell
- Evan Myers
- Francine Robert
- Fred Ramsey
- Jonathan Cork
- kayla kayla van stijn
- Kenneth Bliss
- Lars Christian Detlefsen
- littleladyvader Jessica Arnold-Harris
- Loic Durand
- Miguel Miguel F Santiago Irizarry
- Patrick Reynolds
- Realm Master K Kary Realm Master
 K Williams
- Rudy Thauberger
- Sam Eaton
- Scott James
- Scott Seeber
- Steve Fortier
- William Walters
- xWorkerBeex Martin Schroeder

- Rainer Buschenhofen
- Brian Chafin
- Cory Gill Cory D Gill
- Jim Dortch
- WarnarI Jonathan Marshall Woodland
- Richard H. Lindhorst

Zookeepers

- Aaron Smith
- Blarghedy Timothy McPherson
- Debra Lieven
- Miguel Miguel F Santiago Irizarry
- Realm Master K Kary Realm Master K Williams
- Sam Eaton
- Rainer Buschenhofen
- Brian Chafin
- Cory Gill Cory D Gill
- Jim Dortch
- WarnarI Jonathan Marshall Woodland
- Richard H. Lindhorst

Xenophiles

- Big_Fork Austin Forkey
- Karamu Phoenix Callum Barnard
- Thomas ziffer Thomas O. Ziffer Jr

Crunchmasters

- Clint Doyle
- Zeon Dolan Ross Scherfel
- Aaron Sheffield
- Joel Mattson

pathfinderRPG for more information on the Pathfinder Roleplaying Game.

Pathfinder is a registered trademark of Paizo Publishing, LLC, and the

under the Pathfinder Roleplaying Game Compatibility License. See http://

Some artwork courtesy Publisher's Choice Quality Stock Art (c) Rick

Pathfinder Roleplaying Game and the Pathfinder Roleplaying Game Compatibility Logo are trademarks of Paizo Publishing, LLC, and are used

paizo.com/pathfinderRPG/compatibility for more information on the

Paizo Publishing, LLC does not guarantee compatibility, and does not endorse

- Stephane Gelgoot
- Wesley Brian Patke

Infinium Game Studio is:

СЕО	VP Marketing & Sales
J. Evans Payne	J. Evans Payne
Creative Director	CFO
J. Evans Payne	J. Evans Payne
Lead Editor	Artistic Director
J. Evans Payne	J. Evans Payne
T 10-00	

this product.

compatibility license.

Hershey / Fat Goblin Games.

Legal Stuff

rights reserved.

4

Aquilae: Bestiary of the Realm: Solo QuickStart for Fifth Edition © 2020 J. Evans Payne.

Reproduction without the written permission of the author

and Aquilae are trademarks of Infinium Game Studio, all

All characters, names, places, items, art and text herein are copyrighted by J.

Evans Payne. The mention of or reference toany company or product in these

Compatibility with the Pathfinder Roleplaying Game requires the Pathfinder Roleplaying Game from Paizo Publishing, LLC. See http://paizo.com/

pages is not a challenge to the trademark or copyright concerned.

is expressly forbidden. Dark Obelisk, Berinncorte, Mondaria,

Introduction

Dedication

Aquilae: Bestiary of the Realm is dedicated to my long-suffering wife, who, for countless dozens—in truth, well over a hundred—evenings, endured my relentless clicking to bring the crunch herein to life.

Foreward

This project was born of two urgent desires, formed in the early days of D&D.

Back during the BECMI boxed-set era, I was in middle school, and I discovered tabletop roleplaying games. And I was in love. Deeply, irrevocably in love.

But my new love had two problems. Teen romance, amirite?

Firstly, she was *picky*. Her published adventures stated in bold font, right on their covers, that only PCs of certain levels need apply. I several times ignored her warning, and ventured forth, only to discover the sensibility of her dictum, for this way lies the path of either boredom or certain destruction. Though I saw the wisdom of her claims, still I longed for an adventure more accessible to all: my PC got to be 10th level, but her reward is to be closed off from newlyreleased adventures that gated her off in favor of "PCs of 4th to 6th level"? Similarly, just because my PC has gained in power, she shouldn't be intimidated by monsters of a certain description any longer?

It seemed that somehow, it should be possible to fashion adventure content that scales more dynamically.

My new love's second fault was actually one of my favorite things about her: the *Monstrous Compendium*.

For those under a certain age reading this, a bit of context, here. In those days of limited entertainment options, the Trapper Keeper was king. It was the coolest, most essential school supply. Yeah, sure, it was really just a glorified threering binder. But it was a binder you could make into pretty much whatever combination of tools you felt you needed (spoiler: you didn't need any of it, not really).

So when the *AD&D Monstrous Compendium* was released, it felt in many ways like the ultimate culmination of geekery: an RPG sourcebook that masqueraded as the coolest school tool. It made any DM feel like they were in a legitimate profession, a job, a place of importance, and it added authority to the gaming table.

Plus it was just damned cool.

There was just one problem.

Monsters were presented alphabetically. That was great; made for some pretty easy reference and searching. But pages were printed back-to-back. So, a single sheet might contain information about two different monsters.

That was all well and good until you purchased your second MC pack (remember Spelljammer?): what, then, to do, to keep things alphabetized? It was a frustrating hassle.

Now, you might well point out that it simply doesn't matter that much, to have every monster alphabetized. And even my middle-school self, in the moment, still realized the futility and pointlessness of this irk. It didn't matter. Not really.

But it irked me still.

Fast forward a few decades, and I just decided to do it my own damn self.

We've seen much of this come to pass, of course. Video games like the Elder Scrolls games implement scaling monsters, so that an orc is a threat no matter how potent your character becomes. Playing brutally challenging games such as the Dark Souls line, you have to always be careful of even the very earliest beasties, lest your impatience lead to your doom, regardless of how potent you have grown.

Similarly, online resources like the Pathfinder SRD collect monsters across a wide range of sources and present them alphabetically.

When I set out to create **Dark Obelisk 1: Berinncorte**, I knew that I wanted it to be accessible, playable in earnest, by PCs of any level.

That simple, middle-school naivete has now driven thousands of pages of dynamic adventure content.

And now, though this is but one volume of six, it has yielded a true fulfillment of my middle-school-self's desires.

Here's hoping it brings your gaming group joy.

J. Evans Payne Malvern, Pennsylvania January 2020

Cable of Contents

Colophon	2
Foreward	
Table of Contents	
About Infinium Game Studio	
FlexTale	
Introduction The Campaign World	
FlexAI	
Kobold	
Zombie	
Skeleton	-
Orc	
Spider (Giant)	
Dragon (Black, Young)	_
Elemental (Fire, Medium)	
Giant (Hill)	
Troll	
Mimic	
Gelatinous Cube	
Black Pudding	
Wraith	
Owlbear	
Giant (Stone)	_
Purple Worm	
Rust Monster	
Mummy	
Elemental (Earth, Medium)	
Dragon (Red, Young)	
Open Gaming License (OGL)	

About Infinium Game Studio

Founded in 2015, **Infinium Game Studio (IGS)** came about as the result of a simple mission: Make shared storytelling games easier and more fun for both players and referees alike.

Our vision is that **Infinium Game Studio** empowers referees, players, and the industry entire with innovative gaming tools; high-quality, deeply-designed products; and creative takes on established paradigms.

Values and Key Differences

Plays Well With Everyone

IGS products are engineered to be usable by both novice and veteran gaming groups. As a result, they must contain everything a novice GM might need to react quickly to his/ her play group.

Comprehensive and Immersive

Each **IGS** product should "feel real" and come with everything the referee might require to make the setting, context, environment, or other content come alive.

Everything You Need

The ideal adventure should contain practically everything you need to run the game, except the core rulebook. Even the most skilled GM wastes time looking things up in multiple books. It's so exceedingly rare that an adventure contain all of the crunch and fluff necessary to run it.

Maps: Where Are We, Again?

A picture is worth a thousand words... and also, a thousand seconds of prep time. Visually appealing, easy-to-use, and extensive Maps are an essential part of any sharedstorytelling experience.

Pervasive Maps

Don't put a building on a map if I can't go inside it.

Prepared for Anything

In a gaming session, a good referee must be prepared for the PCs to explore any aspect of the content. All too often, an otherwise outstanding adventure will fail to provide for a major percentage of its content. If there are twenty buildings in a town, but maps for only two of them-well, it's fairly apparent where the Big Bad is going to be holed up! Not every map will be riddled with secret passages, custom random encounters, and combat, but there should be something of interest in every building. Otherwise, it shouldn't be there!

Thoroughness: But What If...?

It's possible to have a 16-page adventure that's wonderful and exciting. It's also possible to have a 255-page sourcebook be boring and repetitive. Striking the right balance between over-padding and under-describing is challenging, but an important part of what we do at **IGS**.

Flexible

Each product should be usable on its own, completely out of context; as a start to a completely new campaign; as part of the "intended" Adventure Path or associated suite of IGS products; or to insert into an existing ongoing campaign.

Reusable

No IGS product is "one and done" by design.

FlexTale and Comprehensive Design enable this flexibility and reusability.

Production Quality

Our goal is to produce world-class products with high production values.

FlexCale

What is FlexCale?

FlexTale[™] is an attempt to make roleplaying game adventure content dynamic and interesting. A module created using FlexTale is different each time it is run. Treasure, monsters, plot activities, NPC backstories and character arcs, and various actions and plot elements can all occur differently.

Differences can occur using the roll of dice, or the GM can simply choose the content that s/he prefers or



feels would be most engaging to the play group.

There are two ways that **FlexTale** can help make an adventure dynamic: **Dynamic Content** and **Dynamic Plots**.

Dynamic Content

"Dynamic content" is a **FlexTable** term that refers to anything in an adventure that can be modified. Whether one NPC is in love with another, or who murdered the vagrant in the alley behind the town pub—**FlexTale** dynamic content makes it possible to have several explanations or paths through a story.

Dynamic Content is made possible by something called a **FlexTable™**.

FlexCables

Most roleplaying game resources have tables—lots and lots of tables, in many cases! Typically, these tables are twocolumn, or perhaps three-column: you have one column that lists the dice roll result, and you reference that row as the outcome of the randomization. This is all well and good, but it limits the scenario to that one set of probabilities and outcomes, without accounting for things that happen in the game that you might want to impact those outcomes.

A Traditional RPG Lookup Table

": Traditional Lookup Table" is a typical "what's in the treasure chest" table that requires rolling a dioo. You roll a dioo, and then you look up which row your roll falls into, and then you get your single result. Interesting, to be sure, and it definitely provides for some variability... but the extent of that variability is constant.

Table 1: Traditional Lookup Table

D%	Result	Description
01-30	Nothing	The treasure chest is empty.
31-40	Minor Reward	1d20 gp and a silver locket worth 5 pp.
41-80	Average Reward	3d12 gp, a gold-hilted dagger worth 10 pp, and two potions of cure light wounds.

D%	Result	Description
81- 100	Major Reward	2d20 pp, a potion of cure moderate wounds, and a scroll of fireball (CL 12).

The FlexTable Difference

A **FlexTable** is used to do the same thing a normal RPG lookup table does. What makes **FlexTables** different is that they have multiple columns to represent dice rolls. Each of the columns represents a different situation or set of conditions under which that column is used to reference the result.

This seemingly simple change is used to make all of the following possible:

- Differences in **probabilities** for the individual outcomes.
- **"Scalable" monsters** and rewards that more appropriately match the level and power of the PCs.
- **Proportional rewards,** measured against the strength of a relationship or other conditions.
- **Circumstantial content**, restricted to certain conditions or prerequisites.
- **": Sample Treasure Chest Contents"** is the same table we saw earlier, modified to be a **FlexTable**.

Contexts

In the above example, there are now four columns used to indicate the range of the dice roll result. These columns are referred to as **Contexts**.

Before you roll on a **FlexTable** like this one, you will have to figure out which **Context** you should refer to. In the above table, the leftmost column is **Context "A" (D%A)**, the next one is **"B"**, and so on. Each **Context** also indicates the dice to be rolled—in this example, you roll the same dice (d%) in each **Context**, but in some **FlexTables**, different dice may be used.

This straightforward example demonstrates the following differences in converting a standard table into a **FlexTable**:

Different Probabilities: Context C is the most favorable, since it provides a much bigger range of rolls under which you would receive the "Major Reward". Context B is the next best, since it, too, expands the range that Context A has.

Circumstantial Results: In **Context D**, not only are the favorable outcomes less likely, but there is a fifth result row that is only possible under this **Context: "Cursed Reward**".

Determining Context: When you are called upon to roll on this **FlexTable**, the adventure will use some description to make it clear which **Context** to use. In the above example, perhaps the **Context** is determined by how favorable the party's relationship is with a local wizard... but if the party has fought or slain that wizard, then **Context D** is used to

Introduction

FlexTable 1: Sample Treasure Chest Contents

D%A	D%B	D%C	D%D	Result	Result Description	
01-30	01-20	01-10	01-30	Nothing	Nothing The treasure chest is empty.	
31-40	21-50	21-30	31-40	Minor Reward	Id20 gp and a silver locket worth 5 pp .	
41-80	51-60	31-50	41-45	Average Reward 3d12 gp, a gold-hilted dagger worth 10 pp, and two potion. of cure light wounds.		
81-100	61-100	51-100	46-50	Major Reward2d20 pp, a potion of cure moderate wounds, and a scroll op fireball (CL 12).		
n/a	n/a	n/a	51-100	Cursed Reward 6d6 cp , a rusted dagger (useless in combat), and whome opens it is struck with a <i>bestow curse</i> spell (CL 8).		

represent the soured atmosphere.

Typically, just prior to a **FlexTable**, adventure content will summarize which **Context** should be used. The GM is encouraged to use his/her common sense and judgement in overriding this guidance as she/he sees fit based on the party and how the game is going. For example, a GM could choose to reference a specific **Context** even though the prerequisites aren't met. She could also choose to simply ignore the table entirely, and force a specific result without even rolling. Experienced GMs should use this power wisely to improve gameplay if necessary; unless you have a specific reason for overruling the recommended use of a **FlexTable**, you should try to use it as it was intended to be used.

Here's an example for the above table, assuming the example of the contents of the treasure chest scaling to the nature of the relationship the party has with the local wizard:

• 🔷 Use Context A:

If the party's relationship to the wizard is Unfriendly or

Indifferent.

- Use Context B: If the party's relationship to the wizard is Friendly.
- Use Context C: If the party's relationship to the wizard is **Helpful**.
- 🖄 Use Context D:

If the party's relationship to the wizard is **Hostile**, or if the party has ever attacked the wizard (or slain her).

This is an impressive-sounding title, but the goal is quite simple to describe: Let the story be different.



Introduction

What Is This Book?

This book is intended to be any or all of the following. These are listed in no particular order.

- An authoritative **listing** of monsters for use in any campaign setting, for adventuring parties of any size, and any level.
- A means of using any existing monster with adventures of **any level** and difficulty.
- A compendium of **newly-created** monsters, born of inspiration from existing beasties you may already know and love.
- A **single-source** reference and repository, listing every single possible monster in easy-to-reference alphabetical order.

In short, how you use this book is really dependent upon you and your needs as a GM.

Strengths

This book is immensely valuable for GMs who want to introduce a truly formidable amount of creatures into their campaign, and to do so in a flexible manner.

Prep Time: *Aquilae: Bestiary of the Realm* is a peerless resource for GMs who want to minimize preparation time, or who want to through new, unexpected combinations of monsters at their players.

Crunch: There is no other work that assembles, generates, and makes available this level of pure crunch, of instantly-usable gaming statistics in an accessible format.

Single Point of Reference: Each monster entry is designed to be self-contained, as much as possible: in nearly all cases, you should be able to use the creature's entry on its own, without referencing any other publications or materials.

Flexibility: If you've always been frustrated by the restrictions of a given adventure being appropriate only "for levels 4-6", then this bestiary is for you!

Rigor: Each and every one of the statblocks in this tome was constructed using published game mechanics, templates, rules, and resources. Most have been playtested in actual gaming groups, or simulated in extensive combat scenarios across a range of PC compositions, levels, and sizes. Although every single monster is not going to pose the identical challenge to every party—see "Weaknesses", below—every creature is constructed as best as possible to represent that monster at that level of difficulty.

Intelligence: The next section of this book introduces **FlexAI**. This is a revolutionarily complex, yet accessible, means of simulating dynamic, contextually-appropriate monster behavior in combat encounters. Each and every monster includes full FlexAI rules, including its combat Role and variation, so you know how it is likely to behave in combat. This mechanic and approach takes the place of the somewhat more pedestrian "Combat Behavior" description that most bestiaries include alongside statblocks. This concept is explored in full, with hundreds of additional resources and references, in the *FlexAI Guidebook*, usable on its own, or as a valuable companion tome to this bestiary.

Novelty: Of the 6,400 complete statblocks in this bestiary, 4,800 of them are entirely new, forged using existing game mechanics, guidelines, templates, resources, and rules. A full 75% of the creatures described herein were created solely for the purposes of letting GMs use monsters for party levels above, or below, the levels "intended" originally when the monsters were published to begin with. In this sense, this work is not only an assemblage of monsters in a single repository, but also the single largest source of new creatures ever conceived.

Thoroughness: Every monster. Ever. Assembled in a single place.

Integration with FlexTale: All **Infinium Game Studio** adventures and other products use the FlexTale approach to adventure content. This innovative approach attempts to make all adventure content accessible and appropriate to all PC parties, of all levels. *Aquilae: Bestiary of the Realm* enables **FlexTale** support for every monster, ever published.

Making Existing Adventures Dynamic: If you have published adventures that do not use the FlexTale approach, you can use this bestiary to adapt them to parties of any level.

Construction: Each and every monster has been "built" or "constructed", rather than simply fabricated. The meaning here is a little obtuse, so in more detail: each monster has been incarnated from its starting statblock, and then modified up and down as appropriate to generate the resulting quartet of statblocks you find herein. Hit dice have been modified, feats granted, and other tricks to produce contextually-appropriate scales of challenge. Statblocks have not simply been "fiddled with", but rather templates and other tools have been applied to generate the results you see. It would have been easier—SO MUCH easier!—to simply fabricate statblocks and boosts, but this approach results in much richer and more true-to-the-rules mechanics.

When to Use This Book

In short, turn to this book as a gaming tool when:

- You want to run an adventuring session quickly, with zero preparation.
- You want to run an **Infinium Game Studio** adventure, or another published adventure that leverages the **FlexTale** approach to dynamic, scaled adventure content.
- You want to introduce a monster that is **not commonly associated** with the level that the PCs in your gaming group currently are.
- You want to **surprise seasoned players** with monsters that they may dismiss as far beyond, or far beneath, their capabilities.
- You want the ease of having a **single**, **authoritative compendium** of every single monster, ever, in a single bookshelf of volumes.

• You want to introduce random, but contextually appropriate, artificial intellligence-driven **behavior** to monsters in your adventures.

What This Book is NOT

This book is intended to be a plethora, and not necessarily a panacea. It sets out to create the most flexible, most complete, and most ambitious set of monsters ever assembled in a bestiary, and in that regard, it excels without peer.

Many bestiaries of entirely new, custom monsters include rich artwork, lavish backstories, and other features. That is not the goal of this book, and it does not set out to achieve this in any way. Other adventures, books, and products from Infinium Game Studios include this approach and level of detail; for the monsters included in *Aquilae: Bestiary of the Realm*, this approach would not be appropriate.

Artwork: It is neither logistically, nor financially, feasible to include artwork for each and every monster. In most cases, the monsters in question are either well-known to veteran players, or existing artwork is easily available for reference in other sources.

Conciseness: By nature, definition, and intent, this bestiary is not perfectly efficient. There is repetition. There is repetition.* Some special abilities and apply to more than one mosnter, so their descriptions may appear multiple times throughout the text. This is by design, and for two reasons: first, to ensure that each entry is self-contained as much as is feasible. And second, because even though the majority of a creature's special ability description may be shared with that of another monster's, it may vary slightly.

* Bad jokes about game mechanics are hard to come by.

Variable Difficulty: It is a lofty goal, to have every monster appropriately presentable to PCs of any quantity and level. Although this bestiary accomplishes everything it sets out to do in this regard, it is simply impossible to effect this perfectly.

All monsters are not meant to be an **equal** challenge to every level, but to represent a **roughly equivalent** challenge at any level. Badgers, no matter what you do to their statblocks, will always be little more than a nuisance. Similarly, a Tarrasque should always represent a potential partyannihilating setpiece foe. Trying to make all monsters be all things to all parties would be A) impossible, and B) inappropriate.

"Squishiness": This word is a common shorthand, and refers to how PCs of higher levels can easily defeat monsters and other threats of lower levels. Some of the monsters herein are indeed "squishy", in that although they may say they are "Elite" level, PCs of higher levels may not view that creature as a legitimate threat to their capabilities. This is frankly unavoidable, as to a certain extent, some monsters are simply tougher than others. Making a Chicken into a threat appropriate to face Level 20 PCs would mean it is unrecognizable as a Chicken. Instead, interpret an "Elite" Chicken as one that should be presented to higher-level characters. They will still be able to slay it just as easily, if not much more easily, than they could the Low-caliber Chicken's statblock when they were lower level.

"Impossibles": Some monsters are completely, entirely,

inappropriate for lower-level adventurers, even if they're listed as "Low" difficulty level. Level 2 PCs cannot hit a monster with an insanely high Armor Class, no way around it. In these scenarios—most often with monsters with **Combat Roles** of **Elite** or **Solo**—the monster is, and should be, considered beyond the capabilities of characters of those lower levels.

Instead, consider deploying the lower-Difficulty iterations of such monsters as easier-to-defeat threats for higherlevel PCs, or as "plot blockers" for low-level PCs. Facing a Tarrasque at Level 4, even in the context of the FlexTale approach to things, should signal certain defeat to any party.

Weaknesses: When NOT to Use This Book

Although *Aquilae: Bestiary of the Realm* was designed to be the most complete, extensive, ambitious, and flexible bestiary ever created, there are still cases where it's perhaps not the best solution.

When faced with the following scenarios, you may wish to consider other alternatives.

- **Story:** There is no adventure here. Or, rather, there is fodder to help fuel thosuands, endless, adventure... but no true plot to speak of. You knew that when you saw the word "Bestiary" on the title, though.
- Adventure Hooks: Some smaller bestiaries include suggestions of how a given monster might be best incorporated into your adventuring. That was not the intent in this tome. There is no room for this, and besides, in many cases, such tools are already available.
- **Background, Context, and "Flavor/Fluff":** This is a work of crunch—of pure game mechanics, rules, and guidelines. It is not a story, and does not provide a great deal of flavor text for the monsters. Most are well-known; descriptions or "soft content" for others are already available elsewhere.
- Exacting Level-Scaled Context: This book strives to make every creature available for use with any adventuring party. That's not mechanically, or sanely, possible to achieve to perfection. In a gaming group that is ruthlessly Rules as Written (RAW), with no flexibilty for fudging dice, rounding up or down, or otherwise bending the rules to ensure a good time versus compliance with mathematics, then this bestiary is probably not the best tool... and neither is the FlexTale approach to things in general.
- Perfect Challenge Rating Adherence: If you are using the rules for creating encounters that use Challenge Rating as an explicit mathematical guideline, then you may wish to apply additional review and rigor to your process when using *Aquilae: Bestiary of the Realm* (see How to Use This Book, below).

Flow to Use Chis Book

There is no wrong way to use *Aquilae: Bestiary of the Realm.* But it may help to consider a number of different ways of using it... some of which may not have occured to

you!

With FCEG

The *FlexTale Encounter Generator (FTEG)* is at the heart of Infinium Game Studio's approach to dynamic adventure content.

Used with this Bestiary, the FTEG contains encounter FlexTables that allow GMs to generate contextuallyappropriate combat encounters for PCs of any level, all with a simple roll of the dice.

With IGS Adventures

All Infinium Game Studios adventures and products use the FlexTale approach to dynamic adventure content. As a result, these adventures leverage monsters in this bestiary, with no additional work needed.

With Other Published Adventure Content

You can take any non-FlexTale adventure and adapt it to be more appropriate to PCs of any level, rather than the restriction of most published products being "levels X to Y".

Simply take the monsters included in such adventures, and use the version of that monster that's most appropriate for your PCs' level.

With Fromebrew Content

For those who like to roll their own, this bestiary makes creating combat encounters super easy: any monster can appear as a threat to any PCs, so let your imagination run wild! Alternately, you can save yourself even more time by using *Aquilae: Bestiary of the Realm* in concert with the *FlexTale Encounter Generator*.

Rarity

The FlexTale Encounter Generator goes into elaborate and fully-scaled detail for every monster, in every terrain context.

As a result, the Bestiary itself merely lists a quick shorthand as to rarity, using the simple nomenclature of "Common", "Uncommon", and "Rare".

Occurences

Each monster lists whether it is encountered on its own, or in a group. This is useful for monsters that might otherwise seem "squishy"; simply include more than just the one to up the threat level.

Challenge Rating

The short version here is that CRs are not slavishly stringent in *Aquilae: Bestiary of the Realm*. It would be nearly impossible to create CR-compliant listings for each monster.

Instead, CRs listed herein reflect the Hit Dice of the creatures and statblocks invovled. In many cases, this means that the CR listed is likely higher than you might expect, particularly for "squishy" monsters who were "evolved" from lower-CR origins.

In these scenarios, recall that the FlexTale approach, and the intent behind this Bestiary, is to present appropriate challenges for parties of varying levels, not perfect threats for exact levels.

Common Creature Features

Some Special Abilities and Feats are so pervasive, it was neither possible nor feasible to include a complete description each time the feature came up in monster descriptions.

Below please find a consolidated listing of these abilities. Where applicable, these appear in the monster's stat block, commonly under the Special Abilities or Feats sections; the complete description is simply not included in the latter text of those monsters.

Darkvision (Ex) Range 60 ft.; Darkvision is the extraordinary ability to see with no light source at all, out to a range specified for the creature. Darkvision is black and white only (colors cannot be discerned). It does not allow characters to see anything that they could not see otherwise-invisible objects are still invisible, and illusions are still visible as what they seem to be. Likewise, darkvision subjects a creature to gaze attacks normally. The presence of light does not spoil darkvision.

Improved Natural Attack (X) Attacks made by one natural weapon leaves vicious wounds. Choose one of the creature's natural attack forms. The damage for this natural attack increases by one step on the following list, as if the creature's size had increased by one category. Damage dice increase as follows: 1d2, 1d3, 1d4, 1d6, 1d8, 2d6, 3d6, 4d6, 6d6, 8d6, 12d6. A weapon or attack that deals 1d10 points of damage increases as follows: 1d10, 2d8, 3d8, 4d8, 6d8, 8d8, 12d8.

Dodge Your training and reflexes allow you to react swiftly to avoid an opponent's attack. You gain a +1 dodge bonus to your AC. A condition that makes you lose your Dex bonus to AC also makes you lose the benefits of this feat.

Improved Natural Armor This creature's hide is tougher than most. The creature's natural armor bonus increases by +1. Special: A creature can gain this feat multiple times. Each time the creature takes the feat, its natural armor bonus increases by another point.

Weapon Proficiencies You understand how to use your martial weapons in combat. You make attack rolls with all your martial weapons normally (without the non-proficient penalty).

Giant Creature Template: This template was used to enhance the abilities and statistics of this creature. Typically this means Size increase by one category; AC increase natural armor by +3; Attacks increase dice rolled by 1 step; Ability Scores +4 size bonus to Str and Con, -2 Dex.

Creature Type Traits (Ex) Creatures of many Types have common rules that apply to them, such as whether they eat,

drink, require rest, breathe, and so on.

Outsider: Unlike most living creatures, an outsider does not have a dual nature-its soul and body form one unit. When an outsider is slain, no soul is set loose. Spells that restore souls to their bodies, such as raise dead, reincarnate, and resurrection, don't work on an outsider. It takes a different magical effect, such as limited wish, wish, miracle, or true resurrection to restore it to life. Outsiders breathe, but do not need to eat or sleep (although they can do so if they wish).

Immunities: Creatures with an Immunity to a type of damage or effect never suffer damage or the impact of those effects.

Resistances: Creatures with a Resistance to a type of damage suffer only 50% of the damage inflicted from that source. If a number is listed next to the Resistance, the creature may ignore that much damage each time damage from that type of source inflicts damage on that creature.

Vulnerabilities: Creatures with a vulnerability suffer twice as much damage from that source each time they suffer damage from that source. Other, non-damage-based vulnerabilities (e.g., light blindness) are described in full text.

Ability Focus (X) One of this creature's special attacks is particularly difficult to resist. Choose one of the creature's special attacks. Add +2 to the DC for all saving throws against the special attack on which the creature focuses. Special: A creature can gain this feat multiple times. Its effects do not stack. Each time the creature takes the feat, it applies to a different special attack.

Blindsense (Ex) Range 60 ft.; Other creatures have blindsense, a lesser ability that lets the creature notice things it cannot see, but without the precision of blindsight. The creature with blindsense usually does not need to make Spot or Listen checks to notice and locate creatures within range of its blindsense ability, provided that it has line of effect to that creature. Any opponent the creature cannot see has total concealment (50% miss chance) against the creature with blindsense, and the blindsensing creature still has the normal miss chance when attacking foes that have concealment. Visibility still affects the movement of a creature with blindsense. A creature with blindsense is still denied its Dexterity bonus to Armor Class against attacks from creatures it cannot see.

Iron Will You are more resistant to mental effects. You get a +2 bonus on all Will saving throws.

Lightning Reflexes You have faster reflexes than normal. You get a +2 bonus on all Reflex saving throws.

Great Fortitude You are resistant to poisons, diseases, and other deadly maladies. You get a +2 bonus on all Fortitude saving throws.

Weapon Focus (X) You are especially good at using your chosen weapon. You gain a +1 bonus on all attack rolls you make using the selected weapon.

Can't Be Tripped (Ex) A creature with this ability cannot be tripped.

Grab (Ex) If you hit with the indicated attack (usually a claw or bite attack), you deal normal damage and can attempt to start a grapple as a free action without provoking an attack of opportunity. You have the option to conduct the grapple normally, or simply use the part of your body you used in the grab to hold the opponent. If you choose to do the latter, you takes a -20 penalty on your CMB check to make and maintain the grapple, but do not gain the grappled condition itself. A successful hold does not deal any extra damage unless you also have the constrict special attack. If you do not constrict, each successful grapple check you make during successive rounds automatically deals the damage indicated for the attack that established the hold. Otherwise, you deal constriction damage as well. You receive a +4 bonus on combat maneuver checks made to start and maintain a grapple. Unless otherwise noted, grab can only be used on creatures of a size equal to or smaller than you.

Low-Light Vision (Ex) You can see x2 as far as humans in low illumination. Characters with low-light vision have eyes that are so sensitive to light that they can see twice as far as normal in dim light. Low-Light Vision is color vision. A spellcaster with low-light vision can read a scroll as long as even the tiniest candle flame is next to her as a source of light. Characters with low-light vision can see outdoors on a moonlit night as well as they can during the day.

Notes & Conventions

As is typical in a roleplaying game adventure or module, some text herein is meant to be read or shown to players verbatim... but the majority of the content is meant to be for the Game Master's (GM) eyes only. Below please find some visual conventions that make this differentiation clear.

Player Descriptive Text

These sections are meant to be read aloud to players asis. You are of course free to introduce your own changes as you see fit as a Game Master. Player Descriptive Text blocks are meant to serve as informative tidbits that have been preconstructed to reflect the exact nature of the situation being encountered by the party.

GM-Only Notes

Granted, nearly everything not highlighted in Player Descriptive Text is not meant to be read aloud to the players. However, some content is much more "sensitive" than others.

GM-Only Notes such as this typically give away plot points, major background, or other information that the players may not normally have access to—either right now, or in some cases, ever. Make sure to conceal these sections from players unless there is a specific reason to tell them!

Designer's Soapbox

In some cases, the game designer will want to express a specific opinion about some aspect of the adventure. Typically, this takes the form of a discussion on interpreting rules, or a recommendation as to how best to play or run a particular piece of the adventure. In all cases, veteran GMs should feel comfortable ignoring these "soapbox" diatribes... but veteran and new GMs alike may find something of interest in the coalesced experience of three decades of roleplaying experience!

Quests

A quest can be large, tiny, or in between. Some can be very quickly accomplished; others span days, weeks, or even years, across multiple cities and even planes of existence!

In this book, all quests, big or small, have a similar presentation and key elements, as shown by the green block below.

Y Quest: Rats in the Cellar (example)

- Summary: Kill rats in a fantasy tavern. Fun and creative.
- **Rewards:** Rat corpses. Plus 10 gp from the bartender.
- **Locations:** Bar.
- **Key NPCs:** Bartender.
- **Kickoff:** When any PC speaks with the bartender.
- **Oescription:**

The bartender asks the party to slay **2d6** Giant Rats that have infested his basement.

In so doing, they will benefit from his goodwill, and a reward of **10 gp**.

Obstacles

Doors, locks, and other obstacles that don't necessarily incorporate a trap. You'll find these prefaced by little brown symbols like this one:

Locked Secret Door (example)

- 5" thick; Hardness 5; hp 30;
 Perception DC 16; Break DC 15; Disable Device DC 18
- 5" thick; Hardness 5; hp 30;
 Perception DC 18; Break DC 17; Disable Device DC 20
- 5" thick; Hardness 5; hp 30;
 Perception DC 20; Break DC 19; Disable Device DC 22
- 5" thick; Hardness 5; hp 30;
 Perception DC 22; Break DC 21; Disable Device DC 24

Skill Checks

Whether it's a single, simple check, or a series of checks in escalating difficulty, skill checks may be an opportunity to either avoid disaster or discover what might otherwise remain hidden and ignored. Such chances are indicated via yellow symbols as follows: Some PCs may have insight into the Blacksmith's wealth; make a DC 12 Knowledge (Profession) check.

Skill Challenges

Skill checks are typically a single roll, often made in secret by the GM. A **skill challenge** is usually a bit more involved than a simple check—or there's simply more at stake. Either way, a challenge is a more formal, and explicit, exercise, intentionally engaged in by the players.

You'll find a skill challenge in a yellow box such as this:

Falling Timbers (example)

First Check: DC 18 Perception (16 if aflame) to notice the falling building; success cancels subsequent checks.

Second Check: DC 15 Acrobatics to avoid the debris; failure inflicts 2d6 points of crushing damage plus a possible
1d8 points of fire damage; success cancels subsequent checks.

Third Check: DC 12 Strength to dislodge one's self from the debris; failure inflicts 114 points of crushing damage plus a possible 118 points of fire damage; success quits the challenge.

Rewards

Treasure, swords, gems, keys, filthy lucre—this is the stuff your players are really gunning for, right? Well, that, plus a good time with friends. And maybe, if you're lucky, a good, engaging session of shared storytelling that you'll all remember for a long time.

At any rate, rewards are shown with blue boxes like this one. Some containers have common treasure, which applies equally to all difficulty bands; these are shown with the badges for all four bands like this:

Other treasure is "scaled"; that is, the PCs receive different treasure depending on what difficulty band they are playing at. Select the band that's appropriate for the level of the PCs; that is the treasure they receive. They do **not** receive all of the treasure listed across all four bands!

Secret Closet Chest

- Brushgather geneology book (a small book; value 6 gp)
- 19 gp; opal pendant on gold chain (value 31 gp)
- 8 pp; 42 gp; opal pendant on gold chain (value 72 gp)
- 19 pp; 37 gp; opal pendant on gold chain (value 180 gp)
- 52 pp; 84 gp; opal pendant on gold chain (value 428 gp)

Craps

Hey, blame the rogue-who in all likelihood is suffering

the brunt of the trap s/he either failed to detect, and/or to disarm. Whether it becomes a bragging right, a bargaining chip, or an epitaph, traps of all manner are shown in a purple box like this one.

Note that the statistics for the impact of most traps scale to the four difficulty bands; select the one that is appropriate for the PCs in your game.

🖍 Acid Arrow Chest Trap

Type Magic; Trigger Touch; Reset none

Perception DC 18; Disable Device DC 20

Effect spell effect (*acid arrow*; Atk +1 ranged touch (**1d4** acid damage for 2 rounds)

Perception DC 20; Disable Device DC 22

Effect spell effect (*acid arrow*; Atk +3 ranged touch (**2d4** acid damage for 2 rounds)

Perception DC 22; Disable Device DC 24

Effect spell effect (*acid arrow*; Atk +5 ranged touch (**2d4** acid damage for 3 rounds)

Perception DC 24; Disable Device DC 22

Effect spell effect (*acid arrow*; Atk +7 ranged touch (**2d4** acid damage for 4 rounds)

Items

Be they simple items, magical items, rods, staves, potions, books, or something wondrous, items share a common block of information like the following... note that this format is used for all manner of non-weapon, non-armor equipment and usable items, both magical and mundane:

Adventurer's Chronicle (example)

Value 50 gp; Weight 1 lb.; Materials paper; Nature nonmagical; Aura none; Slot usable; CL n/a

This book is chock full of useful information. When used as a reference (an action that typically takes **1d4** full rounds of searching the text), an *adventurer's chronicle* grants a **+2** competency bonus on a specific **Knowledge** check for which the book is designed.

Construction Requirements means to assemble a physical book; the author must have at least **10** ranks in the skill for which you are designing the book; **Cost** 30 gp

NPCs and Monsters

Crunch time!

Due to the scale of this adventure, this Adventure Book contains statistics only for NPCs (both Common and Dramatis Personae) and new monsters.

Common monsters, such as Umber Hulks and Giant Spiders, do not have statistics within this tome. Most of the common monsters referenced in this book have freely-available stats, either for free online, or as part of the core books of the game system you are playing.

Variable Challenge

One of the things that has frustrated many GMs is that adventures are almost universally designed in this manner: for a specific level of challenge, or at most, a very narrow range of PC levels (e.g., "4th to 6th level").

One might argue that this Variable Challenge concept is at the very heart of *Aquilae: Bestiary of the Realm* and why it exists in the first place.

There are many advantages to this approach, not least of which being the guarantee that all challenges (monsters, traps, and NPCs) are calibrated very specifically to that narrow zone of difficulty.

The drawback, of course, is the narrowness of that range. GMs wishing to run a module designed for 10th-level PCs, for example, are either flat out of luck, or have to do some fairly intensive work to scale the content up or down to better align with the PCs she is playing with.

The degree to which a particular GM, or even gaming group, enjoys perusing and tweaking game statistics—"crunch", in common parlance—varies, of course. Some GMs love crunch, and spend a majority of their prep time creating and refining their challenges to ensure the crunch is accurate and appropriately challenging. On the other end of the spectrum are "by the seat of their pants" GMs, who ignore crunch almost entirely, rarely referring to stat blocks lest it distract from the focus of storytelling.

This adventure, and in a broader sense,

Infinium Game Studio, does not want to judge as to which approach is "better" or "worse". What matters is that you have fun and enjoy yourselves!

However, we do want to make it as easy as possible to play this adventure no matter what level your PCs happen to be.

Experience Points and Reward Nuggets

There are many ways of calculating, dispersing, and accounting for experience points (XP) in a Pathfinder gaming group. What follows is a method that I have used over the decades, and it's been a lot of fun. Although it may not be for every gaming group—your mileage may vary—it's an interesting spin on traditional methods, and the approach may work for you.

Whether this approach works for you or not, however, it's worth reading through, because all of the Quests in this adventure denote XP awards using this method.

I Want Candy

In the author's early days as a GM, I tossed out candies as rewards to the players when their characters did a good job. Candy could be distributed for defeating a kobold, picking a lock, dodging an attack, convincing the castle guard to look the other way, or any of the ordinary actions whose consequence typically involve experience points.

However, I also gave out candy for good roleplaying,

convincing dialogue, outstanding (or horrid) emulation of accents, meta-jokes about the circumstances of the game that were truly hilarious, suggesting things to me as the GM or other players that took the story in a new direction, or—and I have to be honest, here—helping me as a GM.

My general rule was, if I forgot a rule, and you pointed it out in a way that didn't make you seem like a jerk, then you got rewarded. This could be something as innocuous as reminding me that your elf ranger's longbow was firing +1 arrows, or as significant as reminding me that a certain piece of equipment granted a reroll to a critically-failed outcome.

Generally speaking, candy rewards were given out in my games for anything—literally, anything—that made the gaming experience more fun. Doorbell rings, and the pizza's here, and your character is tied up in the cyclops' cave, so you know you won't be doing anything for a few minutes, and so you go and grab the grub, and tip the delivery guy that's worth a candy. Tell a funny joke—that's worth a candy. Save the life of your comrade, only to drug him unconscious and use him as a prop, in the manner of Weekend at Bernie's—okay, that's a little ghoulish, but it's in charcter, and amazing, so, yeah, that's three candies right there.

Candy as XP

Candy is awesome, though for one of my gaming group, who was a diabetic, it was a controlled and mindful awesomeness. But even the most free-wheeling player wants their character to level up. I get it.

At the end of each gaming session, my players would "turn in" their candy wrappers. Each wrapper represented something gone right, a good deed done—and therefore it was converted to XP. Generally speaking, no matter what the PCs' levels, no matter what the adventure, 10 candy wrappers meant you advanced to the next level. If you fell short—let's say, you only got 6—then it meant you were closer for next gaming session (i.e., 4 needed in this example).

As years went on, it became a bit less practical and/or healthy to urge my friends to consume at least ten pieces of candy every time we got together, and so the approach was tweaked. Instead of candy wrappers, gold stars, or spare dice in a particular color, or Warhammer 40,000 figurines. The point was, you got a token, a "nugget" of reward, which was later converted into XP.

Rules lawyers hate this method, and I respect that. But even the most hardened min/maxer eventually recognizes that this approach, despite its drawbacks, keeps play flowing quite quickly, and keeps everyone focused on what I believe should be the goal of any roleplaying game session.

Namely: to have fun!

Reward Stars: The Formalized Approach

Whether or not you appreciated the above anecdote, or the approach it describes, it's required reading, because now we'll get to how it applies to **Dark Obelisk: Berinncorte**.

As with everything else in this book, the GM is encouraged to completely ignore or change this approach if you feel it would make it work better for your gaming group.

The following represent opportunities to gain an experience point reward in this adventure:

- Defeating monsters and NPCs.
- Avoiding traps, picking locks, or otherwise overcoming obstacles.
- Succeeding in skill challenges or checks.
- Fulfilling other objects in pursuit of a Quest.

Monsters and NPCs in this adventure list the **XP** reward the PCs should obtain for defeating them in combat. They also list the number of "**Reward Stars**" players should receive for success. This is denoted like this: **XP** +2.

Think of a **Reward Star** as a sugar-free and abstracted version of a piece of candy from the earlier anecdote: players receive one or more most times that they achieve something in the game.

Locks, traps, and skill checks are typically "quadded"; each level of CR lists a suggested XP reward, but also a number of Reward Stars.

Quests only list Reward Stars. This is because Quests should be fun, interesting, and above all, useful to the PCs, but shouldn't be game-breakingly powerful or ignorably impotent. A simple delivery quest, for example: what should that be worth? **500 XP**? For a level one character, that can be almost halfway to levelling up; for a level 19 character, that makes for a completely worthless diversion. Using **Reward Stars** solves this problem, by automatically scaling the reward to be significant regardless of character level.

If you follow the approach I've used, then at the end of each gaming session (or in between sessions, or at the start of the next session, whatever works best for your schedule), convert the **Reward Stars** to traditional **Experience Points**.

The GM is heavily encouraged to augment the rewards documented with additional rewards, for perhaps-lesstangible contributions: good jokes, helpful behavior, playing fair and nice, being a good sport, paying for or even just ordering dinner, that sort of thing.

Such "intangible rewards" should be general in nature: a good, timely joke should be rewarded with a chunk of XP that's meaningful and helpful to the PC in question, whether they're level 1 or level 19.

Stay In Character... Or Else

In rare cases, or with certain gaming groups, the GM should reserve the right to remove or revoke the **Reward Stars** a particular player, or the group entire, has earned.

Such penalties should not be applied in a discouraging manner, or against players who are genuinely trying, but whose luck is simply poor, or for whom things just aren't working out. Indeed, successful roleplaying in the face of dire circumstances should be rewarded more!

Reward Stars should only be revoked if the player is detracting from play, distracting others, making inappropriate jokes not appreciated by the rest of the group, not paying their fair share... or just generally being a jerk.

Converting Reward Stars to XP

Each **Reward Star** represents different **XP** depending on what your current level is.

If you've assigned **Reward Stars** to a particular PC, use the character's current level on the table below to convert to an

XP reward.

On some occasions, you may instead have granted Reward Stars to the party as a whole. In this scenario, calculate the Average Party Level (APL) as you normally would, and use that on the table below to convert the reward to standard XP.

If a PC has more than the minimum sufficient **Reward Stars** to advance in level, they may continue to advance! In such a scenario, count Stars using the PC's current level, until they level up. Any remaining stars are converted to **XP** using the character's new level. In exceptionally rare circumstances or with exceptionally indulgent GMs!—this may involve a PC levelling up multiple times between sessions, though such power-levelling is generally discouraged.

Finally, in addition to different methods of determining rewards, gaming groups tend to have different theories as to how rapidly characters should level up. Slow, average, and fast tracks are shown here, which scale to the corresponding Character Advancement experience point totals in the **Pathfinder Core Rulebook**.

For purposes of **Reward Stars**, the following standard has been used:

- Slow advancement requires 15 Reward Stars to advance.
- Advancement with the Average progression demands 10
 Reward Stars per level.
- Only 5 **Reward Stars** are needed to advance following the **Fast** track.

Table 2: Converting Reward Stars to XP

Level, CR, or APL	Slow	Avg	Fast
1	200	200	260
2	300	300	400
3	433	400	540
4	600	600	800
5	800	800	1,000
6	1,200	1,200	1,600
7	1,600	1,600	2,200
8	2,533	2,400	3,200
9	3,000	3,000	4,200
10	5,000	5,000	6,800
11	6,333	6,500	8,000
12	9,667	9,500	13,000
13	12,667	13,000	17,000
14	19,333	19,000	26,000
15	26,333	25,500	35,000
16	36,667	41,000	50,000
17	53,333	50,000	70,000
18	76,667	75,000	100,000
19	100,000	105,000	140,000
20	n/a	n/a	n/a

"Quadded" Stat Blocks

Toward the goal of having an adventure that can be run with PCs of various levels, all NPCs and monsters in this adventure have four separate sets of statistics.

These represent iterations of the creature in four distinct scales of challenge. These scales are referred to, in ascending difficulty, as Low, Moderate, Advanced, and Elite.

Low-level statistics are the default, and are intended for parties of 1st to 4th level PCs. Typically, the **Low CR** for a creature will be in the range of fractional, up to 4. You may see this referred to as "1L".

Moderate statistics present a bit more challenge, and are meant for 5^{th} to 8^{th} level PCs. **CRs** can be in the range from 4-10. You may see this referred to as "2M".

Advanced creatures give even more of a fight, representing **CRs** in the range of 10-15, and are meant for adventurers of the same levels. You may see this referred to as "3A".

Elite monsters and NPCs are the most evolved, and present formidable difficulty in the 12-20 **CR** range. These stat blocks are designed for PCs above 15th level. You may see this referred to as "4E".

To avoid confusion, elsewhere in the text outside of the creature's quadded stat block definition, the statistics referred to are the **Low**, or default, block. For example, the condensed, "vital stats" block that is shown in red where the NPC or monster is introduced in the adventure uses the **Low** values.

Quadded Challenge Blocks

Skill challenges and checks, traps, poisons, and obstacles sometimes have quadded stat blocks as well.

Although nearly all NPCs and monsters have quadded stat blocks, not all other game elements do. This is intentional. It represents the reality that although monsters and people might be of advanced difficulty, the city of **Berinncorte** exists in a typical, average fantasy realm—DC 50 Mythiccaliber locks simply doesn't exist, let alone on every door in town!

Below is an example of a door that has a quadded challenge block. The icons represent the scale of increasing difficulty; from top to bottom, they are **Low**, **Moderate**, **Advanced**, and **Elite**.

Locked Secret Wooden Door

5" thick; Hardness 5; hp 60; Perception DC 16; Break DC 20; Disable Device DC 18

5" thick; Hardness 5; hp 60; Perception DC 20; Break DC 24; Disable Device DC 22

5" thick; Hardness 5; hp 60; Perception DC 22; Break DC 26; Disable Device DC 24

5" thick; Hardness 5; hp 60; Perception DC 24; Break DC 28; Disable Device DC 26

The Campaign World

Overvieu

Aquilae, the campaign setting in which these beasts are located, will be elaborated and described in detail in other books by Infinium Game Studio. This is partly due to limitations of length: a focused narrative on the campaign world would itself take longer than the bestiary! Scope is a factor, as well—too much about the broader game world may distract from the immediacy of the "day-to-day" plot of this particular adventure.

However, the biggest reason for an abbreviated depiction of the game world is that there is much, much more to this realm than meets the eye... and the events of this adventure, while seemingly isolated and bizarre, play a large role in the revelation of these attributes.

In truth, the events of this adventure are so self-contained, and limited to the mining town and the mines underneath it, that for the purposes of playing it out, the larger context hardly matters.

While this is primarily limited to things that directly affect the narrative and activities in the adventure, there are some aspects of **Aquilae** that you may want to bear in mind as you guide the PCs through events—so you don't have to "backtrack" in subsequent components of this **Adventure Path**, or in usage of other adventure books or products in the **Realm of Aquilae**.

What You Need to Know

Here's an executive summary of important aspects of the realm that may affect how you portray the game world in the context of this adventure:

- Gods are real, and many. (See Religion, below.)
- Nearly every sentient being pays tribute to one or more gods. (See Tribute, below). Typically this is through tithing to the appropriate church, or government.
- **Tribute** can be done in the form of monetary wealth, artwork or valuables, or a devotion of magical power. No matter what the form, nearly all tribute actually does end up being transported to the gods themselves!
- About six months ago, the **Dark Obelisk** was discovered on **Level 9** of the **Mondarian Mines**, and it caused evil and chaos to burst forth, upending everything in the **Mines** and the City of **Mondaria**, and causing a massive amount of death and suffering.

Little of the reality of these events is known in the Enclave: all commerce and travel from Mondaria to the Enclave has stopped. Although the Council has sent emissaries and adventurers to Mondaria to investigate, none has returned with any information.

Figh Ability, Low Tech

Leafing through the **Dramatis Personae** section, you may notice that the **Ability Scores** of most key NPCs are not what might be considered "average". This is by design.

There are many schools of thought as to the differences, if any, between a player-character and a non-player-character, or a commoner. Are the PCs superhero-caliber individuals, each imbued with something special that drives their capabilities above and beyond that of normal people? Or instead, are the PCs just people, pretty much the same as everyone around them—they just happened down a different path than others, but one that others weren't prevented from taking by some innate quality or limitation.

It's possible to have a great deal of fun with either philosophy, or anywhere in between.

If your gaming group rebels against this sort of approach, you as a GM are of course welcome to "handicap" any or all NPCs so that they are more in line with your players' expectations of what is considered "normal".

Religion

Gods play a major role in **Aquilae**. The pantheon is varied and vast—dozens, perhaps hundreds, of supremely powerful beings. It is exceptionally uncommon to find someone who is not a devotee of at least one higher power—and there are many who are advocates of multiple gods. The general mindset of most sentient beings in **Aquilae** is an open acknowledgment, an agreement that all gods exist. Devotion to one or more gods in particular merely means that you favor their perspective on things... and, with any luck and enough tribute (see below), those gods return the favor by aiding you from time to time when it is needed most.

One might think of Roman and Greek mythology as a good comparison here: there are many gods, and while they are all immortal and wield immense power, they all share certain "human" weaknesses, such as a proclivity for playing tricks and engaging with mortal affairs. Some gods are more powerful than others, and the "society" of gods is a rich and storied plot unto itself which most mere mortals rarely glimpse.

Cribute

If you pray, you pay! Everyone, in every religion, gives money and resources to their god. In almost all cases, this is done through the church, though in remote situations, tithing in this manner can be quite difficult. Even isolated hermits typically worship at least one god.

Many devotees do not live near a temple of worship for their deity. The pantheon is flexible, however: any worshipper, of any god, can visit any church, and donate their tribute there. Part of each church's responsibility is to make sure all tribute eventually gets sent to its appropriate god.

To be clear: in **Aquilae**, churches are kind of a form of tax center. And all tribute does in fact end up being shipped off

to the gods themselves.

The mechanics of tribute, of how it gets processed and where it goes, how it actually gets to the objects of worship, and the nature of the gods themselves will all be discussed in greater detail in subsequent campaign books.

FlexAl

What is Flexfl?

FlexAI is an attempt to model and simulate monster and NPC behavior in a combat encounter. It scales in complexity from very simple to as complex as you as a GM would like it to be. It can be used in any tabletop roleplaying game with zero preparation time.

The system takes only a few minutes to learn, is easy and quick to use, and can enhance any tabletop roleplaying combat experience.

Summary vs. Full Version

The full FlexAI guidbook contains nearly 300 FlexTables which guide contextual monster behavior for hundreds of different combinations and scenarios.

This **summary description** contains some basic elements of the concepts of FlexAI, and only a single FlexTable per Role.

Flow to Use Flexfl

Sanity Checks & Rerolls

Generally speaking, if something "feels wrong", reroll it.

More specifically, if the Outcome determined by FlexAI do not apply (e.g., creature lacks a ranged attack altogether) or are inappropriate to the circumstances (e.g., maneuver when the creature is surrounded by melee opponents), reroll the result to determine a more appropriate Outcome.

Chree Ciers of Complexity

Not everyone needs, or is interested in, complex AI combat mechanics. Sometimes, you just want to quickly roll on a single table, and determine an outcome.

Conversely, some gaming groups like the thrill of the unknown, and like to add even more

To support this array of interests, FlexAI provides three levels of complexity: **Simple, Full,** and **Advanced.**

You can pick and choose which of these three approaches you wish to employ. You can even switch the method used at any time—even round-to-round within the scope of the same combat and monsters!

Behavior Common Concepts

All three levels of complexity share two elements: **Outcomes**, and **Targeting**.

Simply put, these are what you need to determine the behavior of a creature in combat.

Targeting dictates *who* the creature attacks; **Outcomes** dictate *how* it goes about it.

Together, **Outcome** and **Targeting** are referred to as a creature's **behavior**.

Combat Outcomes

All three levels of FlexAI difficulty involve **Combat Outcomes** as the main output of using the tool.

This represents the behavior of a creature in the combat situation.

Note that not every Combat Outcome necessarily applies to every creature. For example, not every creature has both a primary and a secondary attack. The GM is encouraged to sanity check outcomes (see above).

If the Outcome determined does not require a target, ignore the Targeting aspect of the behavior determined.

Table 3: Combat Oucomes

bie 3. combat ou	teomes
Outcome	Description
×	Creature attacks its target using its standard attack. For most creatures, this will be melee; for others, it will be
Attack Main	ranged.
(If the creature's main attack is Melee, the creature attacks using a Ranged attack, and vice versa.
Attack	
Secondary	
Maneuver	Creature moves about, either to get closer to its preferred target (see Targeting), to evade the enemies currently surrounding it, or to take
	advantage of battlefield characteristics.
<u>ل</u>	Creature uses an item, such as a wand or staff or potion.
Use / Defend	If it does not carry one, creature takes a defensive stance.
R	Creature uses a special ability against its current target.
Ability	If it lacks any special abilities, or none of its abilities apply, reroll this result.
*	Creature tries to flee the combat encounter entirely.
Flee	This creature flees in a direction most away from its current Target.

Combat Targeting

In many circumstances, you can simply use the Outcome to dictate the current round's worth of behavior for a given

Table 4: Combat Targeting Summary		
Outcome	Description	E
Frontline	The frontmost adversaries. This can be, but is not always, the same as the Closest enemy.	100 000
FIOIICIIIIe	For the purposes of determining "front" and "back", consider the starting positions of each side in the battle; the frontmost creatures of either side are those who began the combat encounter closest to their enemies.	
	As Frontline , but the rear-most enemies.	
Rearguard	This may be, but is not always, the same as the Farthest enemy.	
	The opponent which is currently physically closest to this creature.	
Closest	In most melee circumstances, this represents the creature's current target.	N N N N
K	The opponent which is currently physically farthest away from this creature.	
Farthest	This result applies irrespective of whether the creature can physically reach the Farthest enemy by moving this round.	
	The enemy who is currently "strongest", healthiest, or furthest from death.	
Strongest	Typically this can be represented by the enemy with the most current hit points.	
	As Strongest , but the enemy closest to death.	
Weakest		
÷	This targets an enemy who uses a ranged attack as their primary attack.	
Ranged Enemy	In the event of multiple enemies who employ ranged attacks, select one of them (you can pick the closest, randomize your selection, or roll again on whatever table you just used for Targeting to determine the specific Ranged Enemy within those who qualify).	
	Note that this does not imply anything about how this creature goes about attacking its enemy: it may well use a melee attack to attack the Ranged Enemy .	

Outcome

As **Ranged Enemy**, but select an

Description

enemy who uses a melee attack as their primary mode of attack.

Melee Enemy

creature. During most combat, a creature's current target does not change round-to-round.

However, there is value in dynamically changing targeting using FlexAI rules.

First, it can make things very interesting and keep PCs off their guard if a monster changes its target from round to round. Intelligent monsters might do so even if it serves to their temporary disadvantage (e.g., if it triggers attacks of opportunity or a less favorable battlefield positioning).

Second, creatures who are not typically invovled in melee as their primary combat approach might indeed change their target round-to-round, particularly if their attacks or abilities inflict status changes (e.g., debuffs) or spell effects.

The table to the left summarizes the Combat Targeting results that FlexAI defines.

Simple Al Rules

Simple AI rules assume the most common circumstances of the creature involved, the combat environment, and the status of the participants.

Advantages & When to Use

Much of the time, the single table that results will provide a rich, dynamic result.

The single dice roll, the fact that it's a d20 as opposed to a d100, and the fact that there is a single table that does not have to be looked up (and indeed, whose contents could even be memorized) all make using the Simple AI approach very easy and quick to integrate.

Limitations

It should be noted that the entire purpose of design behind the FlexAI concept is intended to acount for a more nuanced, contextually-appropriate pool of results and related probability. An elder dragon at full health should simply not behave anything similar to a lurking thief hiding in the shadows; the Simple AI approach cannot take this into account.

Simple AI Outcome Table

Use the following table to quickly and easily determine the combat action a creature takes.

Table 5: Simple AI Outcomes

D20	Outcome
01-12	🔀 Attack Main
13-14	Attack Secondary
15	🔀 Maneuver
16	Use / Defend
17-19	N Ability
20	洛 Flee

Simple AI Targets

Use the following table to quickly and easily determine the targeting behavior of a creature in combat.

Fable 6: Simple AI Targeting		
D20	Outcome	
01-05	Frontline	
06-07	Rearguard	
08-13	🔀 Closest	
14	B Farthest	
15-16	Strongest	
18	🔁 Weakest	
19	Ranged Enemy	
20	Nelee Enemy	

Full AI Rules

This is the heart of FlexAI and its power to provide contextually-appropriate combat actions.

Instead of traditional tables, you use **FlexTables** (see the overview of FlexTale earlier in this document). And instead of using the same table regardless of what is going on, you intelligently select the appropriate FlexTable based on the nature of the creature involved and the battlefield circumstances.

In short, the concepts of **Outcomes** and **Targeting** still apply; it's just a matter of how they are determined.

Advantages & When to Use

Use the **Full AI** rules when you want to simulate dynamic and contextually-appropriate creature behavior in combat, but want to adhere to RAW (Rules as Written) logic and standards that govern combat mechanics without further interference.

Limitations

It does take a simple extra step to select the appropriate FlexTable.

However, creatures that are part of the *Aquilae: Bestiary* of the *Realm* collection of monsters already have all of the needed information assigned to them and defined. Using an *ABR* monster with FlexAI is as simple as looking up the right page to use in the full *FlexAI Guidebook*.

For monsters and NPCs that are not part of this collection, however, the GM must assign FlexTables to the creature.

The **Full Edition of FlexAI** contains tools and rules for assigning FlexAI guidelines for your own, new, or existing published monsters or NPCs.

It also contains a wealth of easy-to-use guidelines for quickly picking FlexTables for a given monster.

In short: It should take less than a minute for a seasoned GM to take a monster or NPC and "enable" them for FlexAI use!

Additional Factors: Role & Stance

To determine which FlexTable is most appropriate for the monster and combat circumstances, Full AI rules require two additional elements: **Roles** and **Stances**.

A creature's **Role** represents its typical combat behavior and approach to battle.

A creature's **Stance** indicates its current combat circumstances.

Together, these two factors help determine the contextual probabilities that should apply to the creature's behavior in combat.

Combat Roles

A tarrasque does not approach combat the same as a giant sanke. A cockatrice lies in wait; an orc chieftain is much more likely to charge. Mimics might even be immobile, so are phylscally incapable of approaching combat in the same manner as other monsters.

And so on; you get the idea: each monster is likely to approach battle differently, based on its own strengths, weaknesses, and abilities. Although it would be possible to create a separate set of FlexTables for each creature, customized exactly to that creature's characteristics, such an endeavor would be exhausting, consume a mammoth amount of pages... and, ultimately, not add a great deal of value on top of the approach that FlexAI takes.

Instead of having 8 or more customized FlexTables for each monster, FlexAi recognizes that, ultimately, there are only so many ways that a creature might go about fighting. An orc lord and a hill giant might well be different in any number of important ways, but the two monsters will probably wade into a fight with much the same gusto.

Those readers familiar with the **4th Edition** of the world's most popular roleplaying game will recognize some of this terminology and these concepts. Role was a key element of monster descriptions in materials from that rules system.

Reasonable people can disagree as to whether 4E represents the best or worst elements of the tabletop roleplaying concept, and indeed, endless debate has raged around this controversial rules set.

One can even debate as to whether the Combat Role concept was a creative, brilliant shorthand for accelerating GM prep time; or a huge, shackling hindrance to gameplay, immersion, or GM flexibility.

Regardless of these debatable matters, however, FlexAI's "echo" of the Role gameplay element is intentional. For all its controversy, 4E provided a great and accessible terminology starting point for defining creature AI in combat.

No matter your own personal perspective on 4E—or if you are even familiar with it in the first place!—I can assure you that 4E mechanics and concepts have nothing to do with FlexAI's mechanics.

The names and set of Roles is the only concept that is borrowed herein.

Combat Role Summary

The following table summarizes the Combat Roles that FlexAI uses, and their typical characteristics.

	Table 7: Combat Ro	les		Table 8: Combat Ro	le Var
	Role	Description		Role Variant	
10.2017/	Brute	Inflicts high damage, typically via melee attacks. Has a great deal of hit points, but possibly low defenses.	A State of the second	Normal	Many into powe creat
	Soldier	Focuses on defense, usually in melee, but can also have high ranged defenses. Average health, and a variety of attack strengths.	2.5 M 12	Minion	Minie creat abser prese
	Ö Artillery	Ranged attacks are the main focus of Artillery. Typically have very low hit points and/or defenses, however.	2 12 20	Elite	enco Elite and f creat Mini
A DU AND	X Skirmisher	Skirmishers may be average in many categories, but excel in mobility, and use this to their tactical advantage in selecting targets where they can do the most damage.	A CONTRACTOR	8	in a o Solo typic they
	Lurker	Most Lurkers prefer to surprise or ambush their opponents, or to remove themselves from the possibility of easy attack once battle is joined.	ISA AND	Solo	and a chall Mind think and s
	Q Controller	Controllers typically have sets of abilities that allow them to force enemies into disadvantage, either by moving enemies around, or controlling the battlefield itself.	VULLEV ANY	Mindless	to-se time, but e comb
	Leader	Leaders are special creatures with sets of abilities that make them a force to be reckoned with regardless of the circumstances. Although "leader" typically indicates that the creature is in charge of others, Leader creatures may be encountered on their own.	TO ANY ANY	Combat Sta	keepa

Combat Role Variations

The core set of seven Roles described above covers the majority of monsters and NPCs.

However, there are some types of creature that do not fit evenly into those categories. Some creatures may therefore have Role Variations.

These may apply to any of the standard Roles. So, for example, you could have an Elite Lurker, or a Solo Controller.

Table 8: Combat Role Variations		
Role Variant	Description	
t Normal	Many monsters and most NPCs fall into this category. Neither particularly powerful nor weaksauce, Normal creatures as just that: normal.	
☆ Minion	Minions are weaker than Normal creatures, and are rarely found in the absence of a ruling, more powerful, presence. Typically, Minions are encountered in groups.	
Elite	Elite creatures are powerful, flexible, and formidable enemies. A single Elite creature might rule over dozens of Minions and several Normal creatures in a complex combat encounter.	
Solo	Solo creatures are often special cases: typically discovered on their own, they usually have sufficient power and ability to represent a significant challenge in and of themselves.	
O Mindless	Mindless creatures do not typically think or plan their combat reactions, and simply act from a visceral, second- to-second standpoint. Most of the time, this means fighting to the death, but even Mindless creatures can make combat actions that spice things up a bit from the typical "skeleton keeps attacking the first PC they see" approach to things.	

sompat Stances

A haughty noble fresh from a good night's sleep and at maximum hit points will behave very differently than that same noble after prolonged combat, suffering from exhaustion and bloody from multiple wounds.

A creature's combat Stance is an assessment of its current fighting circumstances. This context can and will change throughout the fight, and allows FlexAI to differentiate the changing behavior of a creature in response to the situation at hand.

Combat Stance Summary

There are probably dozens, if not hundreds, of different scenarios to take into account to truly represent the diversity of combat that is possible in a fantasy roleplaying environment.

To simplify the possibilities, however, there are 8 fundamental Stances that can be used to represent or approximate the full set of combat circumstances for a creature.

ble 9: Combat Stan	ces	Role	Description
Role Contraction Ambushing	DescriptionThe creature is ambushing its prey: lying in wait, hiding, or using stealth, invisibility, or aspects of the terrain to make	D Cornere	d Creatures who are Cornered have few options in terms of maneuverability, either as a result of the combat environment, and/ or the PCs themselves.
Anousning	their presence unknown until the moment to strike is nigh.This Stance also applies to situations in which the PCs are simply unaware of the creature		Cornered creatures cannot easily flee without substantial risk, and for many, this is when the true instinct of "fight or flight" kicks in.
	and are surprised by it. A Mimic that has not been detected is in an Ambushing		Some creatures become truly deadly and imposing when Cornered. A street urchin backed into an
-	The reverse of Ambushing, in a way: the creature is surprised		alley with no escape counts as Cornered .
Unprepared	by the PCs, or is aware of them, but not ready to participate in combat.	Overwhelr	ned Overwhelmed creatures are fighting against significant odds, in some combination of capability and/or simple numbers.
	This could be because the creature is not expecting combat to occur, or because it does not have its weapons drawn or at the ready.		Many creatures turn desperate or frightened when Overwhelmed; some turn into brutal and vicious combat machines when facing bad
	An NPC woken from sleep, or one with whom the PCs have merely been talking up until the moment one draws its sword, typically		odds. A single kobold facing six PCs is Overwhelmed .
	counts as Unprepared.In most combats, creatures begin the encounter in this Stance: well-rested, at full hit points, and	Relentle	Relentless creatures fight with little care for odds or the environment in which they do battle.
Fresh	ready to do battle. Creatures in this Stance neither have advantage over their enemies, or are taken by surprise by them; they are at full combat	5	Some Relentless creatures start combat in that Stance, and some may not even change, others can end up in this Stance due to circumstances.
	capability. If it is unclear which Stance		A raging Barbarian orc chieftain counts as Relentless .
	applies to a combat situation, Fresh is typically a good assumption.	Mindles	Mindless creatures may still take different kinds of actions in combat round-to-round, but are
	A bear encountered in the wild, which sees the PCs just as they see it, counts as Fresh .	Minutes	S not driven so much by tactics or intelligence. A skeleton warrior counts as
Bloodied	Creatures fight differently when they have suffered wounds. Some fight more aggressively; others become more defensive; many will tend toward fleeing outright		Mindless.
	if brought low by injury.		ly Each Stance
	A young dragon reduced to 1/5 its maximum hit points counts as Bloodied .	when to apply eac profile. For exam reduced to half the	a FlexAI profile, the circumstances of h Stance are described as part of that ple, some creatures become Bloodied whe eir maximum hit points; others do not until reduced to far fewer health.

FlexContent

Flexfl & FlexCable Listing

The **Full Edition of FlexAI** contains a separate FlexTable for each distinct combination of Role and Stance.

With 35 Roles and 8 Stances, that makes for a grand total of 280 FlexTables, each one designed for a unique combination of a type of creature behavior, and its current circumstances.

Advanced AI Rules

In addition to the wide range of dynamic combat behavior offered by the Full AI Rules, FlexAI offers Advanced AI rules. These allow for even more versatility in combat behavior, and reflect a more complex and nuanced creature intelligence.

Advantages & When to Use

Advanced AI is pretty much the same system as Full AI, with possible additional boosts and penalties to the creature involved. It's a useful tool in providing a more unexpected and interesting combat experience for your PCs.

Limitations

Of the three FlexAI rules systems, Advanced AI is the only one that departs tangibly from the RAW (Rules as Written) combat mechanics of the roleplaying system you are using.

Since Advanced AI provides the possibility of additional bonuses and penalties on combat actions, and does so outside the context of spells, spell-like abilities, racial effects, and so on, there is little in the rules mechanics

It is strongly suggested that you discuss this option with your players before a combat encounter even starts, so your gaming group can come to a consensus as to how you collectively feel about this approach.

Many may love it, but if even one player has a rules objection to its use, you may wish to consider sticking with the Full AI rules approach.

Surges & Lulls

Advanced AI takes the Full AI rules and extends them through the use of Surges and Lulls.

This is intended to represent the wide variance of combat abilities and behavior that every creature exhibits. Rules purists will point out that the roll of a die (typically a d20) to provide randomness already models this range of behavior.

In the wild, however, many factors influence the results of a battle: adrenaline and insight can boost performance, whereas sun glare, sweat, hunger, and even a simple root placed unexpectedly in the ground can trip up even the ablest of combatants.

The FlexTables provided in FlexAI describe not only the Outcomes involved, but also the possibility of Surges and Lulls for each Outcome.

Surges and Lulls are a great companion to the concept of Quadded Statblocks and Variable Difficulty (<u>https://</u> www.drivethrurpg.com/product/190268/Quadded-Statblocks-to-Enable-VariableDifficulty-Adventures-in-Pathfinder-RPG).

The Quadded Stats approach enhances and degrades a "regular" monster or NPC's statblocks in a manner designed to support use of that crunch in a wide variety of PC levels and challenge.

The whole point of Quadded Statblocks is that every creature should be usable in any gaming group, no matter what the relative levels or difficulty.

Surges and Lulls, used with the correct Context in the FlexTables they appear in, are a great way of adding to this concept: boosting less-formidable monsters so they still pose a threat to higher-level PCs, and handicapping top-tier creatures so a lower-powered party isn't instantly wiped out.

Combat Surges

A Surge is a boost to a creature's combat behavior. If a Surge is indicated in the FlexTable results rolled, it applies for the combat actions of that creature alone, and for the current combat round only.

Surges rolled do not apply to any other creature, friend or foe, this round. Benefits last until the start of the next round of combat for that creature.

This means that the benefit may still apply during the enemy's combat turn. For example, a Surge for a creature using the **Use/Defend** Outcome might boost its Armor Class; this benefit lasts throughout the enemy's next round.

Surges are fun, useful additions to combat, and a great way of ensuring that battles are dynamic and unexpected, even for seasoned players.

However, if used without restraint or control, it can also make combat very different from how you, or a thirdparty adventure designer who does not support Variable Difficulty, intends. It could be, for instance, that the PCs are never supposed to be able to defeat Monster X in Hallway Y, and that the mere presence of that type of monster in that hallway effectively "blocks" the PCs from traveling in that direction.

Surges and Lulls and Advanced AI may handicap that monster to the point where the party can defeat it after all.

As a GM, you should be familiar enough with the adventure you're running to know whether this concern applies to your gaming session. Plan your use of Advanced AI accordingly!

Cypes of Surge

Combat Surges are specific to the context of the Outcome that is rolled.

FlexContent

Attack Surges

The creature receives the listed bonus ot its attack roll. If it is capable of multiple attacks, the listed bonus applies to ALL attacks it can make this round.

Note that as Combat Surges remain in effect until the start of the affected creature's next round, Attack surge benefits apply to attacks made during the enemy's turn—for example, opportunity attacks, of those apply.

Damage

The creature's attacks inflict additional damage.

The listed value is applied to the damage that is calculated, and stacks with all other values for purposes of calculating damage. That is, if a **"+2 Damage" Combat Surge** is applied to a creature normally capable of inflicting **2d6+3** damage, the total damage it inflicts is **2d6+5**.

The bonus damage applies to all attacks the creature makes between the result's application and the start of its next turn. Therefore, opportunity attacks and other attacks made during the enemy's turn receive the benefit as well.

Init

The creature's Initiative gains a bonus. Note that this may not fully help the creature this turn, as most uses of FlexAI will apply at the start of a creature's turn; gaining Initiative at that point will not benefit the creature for most purposes as its "place in line" of Initiative order has already been determined.

For the purposes of determining Initiative order next round, however, the Init bonus will be in place.

Move

The creature's standard Movement receives the listed bonus. This stacks with all other bonuses to Movement that might apply, and remains in effect until the start of the creature's next turn.

For creatures capable of multiple methods of movement, this bonus applies to its primary mode of mobility.

If it is unclear as to which type of movement is its "primary", assume the one capable of the farthest travel. In the event of a tie, apply the bonus to both types of movement.

Impact / Impact Dice

"Impact" is a shorthand for what a usable item does. A healing potion restores hitpoints; a wand of magic missiles casts a spell effect. Almost every usable item that produces a valuable effect has an impact—a measurable outcome that in most cases has some innate variability to it.

In scenarios that produce a **Use/Defend** Outcome, if the creature has a usable item that results in a variable effect, that effect is referred to as an Impact.

"+1 Impact" means that whatever the result is, add +1 to the result. So a potion of cure light wounds that restores 2d6 hit points would instead restore 2d6+1 hit points when paired with this Combat Surge result.

+1 Impact Die means that you add one die when measuring the result. Following the above example, the potion would heal 3d6 hit points.

Use common sense when applying **Combat Surges** of all kinds, but particularly when applying **Impact** and **Impact Dice** outcomes.

Remember that these mechanics are meant to represent a net positive benefit for the creature involved, so if a potion or other usable item has a variable results which is a negative value, then make the Surge values negative as well.

For example, if the creature's usable item is a staff which reduces the AC of a target opponent by **1d6** points, and it receives a **"+2 Impact**" Combat Surge, then the enemy's AC should be reduced by **1d6+2** points.

DC

The creature's abililties are more formidable and dangerous temporarily.

Any ability, attack, or other effect produced by the creature that has a DC associated with it receives the additional bonus listed until the start of its next turn. This applies to combat attacks, defensive abilities, auras, and everything about the creature that might involve a DC (including poison/disease and similar effects).

Range

The creature's abilities grow more far-reaching and can affect a broader area.

Any abilities the creature has that involve a range already receive the listed bonus to their maximum range.

A creature's melee abilities or touch-range abilities are unaffected by this bonus—in other words, this Surge does not transform any close-range abilities into ranged abilities!

AC

The creature is more difficult to strike in combat and affect.

The creature receives the listed bonus to its AC until the start of its next turn. This bonus applies to all forms of AC—flat-footed/surprised, touch attack, melee, ranged, and so on.

Combat Surge Summary

Table 10: Combat Surges

Outcome	Minor Surge	Major Surge
×	+1 Attack	× +2 Attack +4 Attack
Attack	+3 Attack	+5 Attack
Main	$\mathbf{\times}$ +4 Attack	+6 Attack
	+1 Attack	+2 Attack
Ŵ	× +2 Attack	+4 Attack
Attack	+3 Attack	+5 Attack
Secondary	+4 Attack	+6 Attack
	+1 Init; +5' Move	+2 Init; +5' Move
Maneuver	+2 Init; +5' Move	+4 Init; +5' Move
	+3 Init; +10' Move	+5 Init; +10' Move
	★ +4 Init; +5' Move	+7 Init; +15' Move
4	+1 impact / +1 AC	+1 impact die / +3 AC
Use /	+2 impact die / +2 AC	+1 impact die / +4 AC
Defend	+1 impact die / +3 AC	+2 impact dice / +5 AC
	+1 impact die / +4 AC	+2 impact dice / +6 AC
R	+1 impact / +1 DC / +5'	+1 impact die / +3 DC / +10'
Ability	range	range
	★ +2 impact die / +2 DC / +5' range	+1 impact die / +4 DC / +15' range
	+1 impact die / +3 DC / +10' range	+2 impact dice / +5 DC / +20' range
	+1 impact die / +4 DC/ +10' range	+2 impact dice / +6 DC / +20' range
*	★ +1 AC; +5' Move	+2 AC; +10' Move
Flee	+2 AC; +10' Move	+4 AC; +15' Move
	+3 AC; +15' Move	+5 AC; +20' Move
	+4 AC; +20' Move	+7 AC; +25' Move

Combat Lulls

Combat Lulls are a temporary handicap, penalty, or other negative impact to a creature's combat abilities. Lulls represent the reality that in the shifting chaos of fighting, a creature might get distracted, trip, stumble, miscalculate, or otherwise perform not as well as it might typically, either through its own failure or the circumstances of the battle.

If a **Combar Lull** is indicated in the FlexTable results rolled, it applies for the combat actions of that creature alone, and for the current combat round only.

Lulls rolled do not apply to any other creature, friend or foe, this round. Penalties apply until the start of the next round of combat for that creature.

This means that the negative effect may still apply during the enemy's combat turn. For example, a Lull for a creature using the **Use/Defend** Outcome might degrade its Armor **Class**; this penalty lasts throughout the enemy's next round.

Cypes of Lull

Combat Lulls are specific to the context of the Outcome that is rolled.

Combat Lull Summary

Table 11: Combat Lulls

Outcome	Minor Lull	Major Lull
Outcome		
\mathbf{X}	 -1 Attack -2 Attack 	-2 Attack
Attack		-4 Attack
Main	-3 Attack	-5 Attack
	✓ -4 Attack	-6 Attack
(-1 Attack	-2 Attack
Attack	-2 Attack	-4 Attack
Secondary	-3 Attack	-5 Attack
	-4 Attack	-6 Attack
	→ -1 Init; -5' Move	∠ -2 Init; -5' Move
Maneuver	-5 Move	
Mancuver	-5' Move	-5' Move
	-3 Init; -10' Move	-5 Init; -10' Move
	✓ -4 Init;	-7 Init;
	-5' Move	-15' Move
<u>ل</u>	-1 impact / -1 AC	-1 impact die / -3 AC
Use /	🔀 -2 impact die	-1 impact die /
Defend	/ -2 AC	-4 AC
	-1 impact die / -3 AC	-2 impact dice / -5 AC
	-1 impact die / -4 AC	-2 impact dice / -6 AC
	🔀 -1 impact /	🔀 -1 impact die
	-1 DC / -5' range	/ -3 DC / -10' range
Ability	✓ -2 impact die	-1 impact die
	/ -2 DC / -5' range	/ -4 DC / -15' range
	-1 impact die	-2 impact dice
	/ -3 DC / -10'	/ -5 DC / -20'
	range -1 impact die	range -2 impact dice
	/ -4 DC/ -10'	/ -6 DC / -20'
	range	range
	-5' Move	-10' Move
Flee	-2 AC; -10' Move	-4 AC; -15' Move
	-10 Move	-15 Move
	-15' Move	-20' Move
	-4 AC;	-7 AC;
	-20' Move	-25' Move

fl Flex Cables

Full Edition vs. Bestiary

The following FlexAI tables include one detailed set of FlexTables for each Role, assuming a Fresh Stance.

The *Full Edition of FlexAI* contains a separate FlexTable for each distinct combination of Role and Stance.

With 35 Roles and 8 Stances, that makes for a grand total of 280 FlexTables, each one designed for a unique combination of a type of creature behavior, and its current circumstances.

In addition, the Full Edition contains several unique or special-circumstance scenarios beyond the mere combination of Role and Stance. In total, the 300+ page Full Edition aims to address an enormous range of possible combat scenarios.

The **Full Edition of FlexAI** also contains tools and rules for assigning FlexAI guidelines for your own, new, or existing published monsters or NPCs.

It also contains a wealth of easy-to-use guidelines for quickly picking FlexTables for a given monster.

In short: It should take less than a minute for a seasoned GM to take a monster or NPC and "enable" them for FlexAI use!

Brute / Fresh

Contexts

• 🔷 Use Context A:

By **default**, if the creature and its allies represent a comparable challenge to that of the party, or if no other Context described applies to the circumstances.

• 🛆 Use Context B:

If the creature and its allies represent a low level of threat to the party; i.e., the **creature is outmatched**.

FlexTable 2: Brute Role; Fresh Stance: Action

100	10.0	-		
ΔA	B	C	D	Outcome
01-26	01-16	01-21	01-09	Xttack Main
27-31	17-18	22-23	10-14	Attack Secondary
32-36	19-23	24-28	15-22	Maneuver
37-39	24-26	29-33	23-27	Use / Defend
40-54	27-31	34-41	28-32	Ability
-	-	-	33-35	Flee
55-66	32-46	42-46	36-43	AM/Minor Surge
67-71	47-54	47-48	44-46	AS/Minor Surge
72-73	55-59	49-50	47-51	M/Minor Surge
74-75	60-61	51-52	52-54	UD/Minor Surge
76-80	62-69	53-55	55-57	AB/Minor Surge
-	70-74	-	58	FL/Minor Surge
81-85	75-79	56	59-61	AM/Major Surge
86	80-81	-	62	AS/Major Surge
87	82-84	57	63-65	M/Major Surge
88	85-89	58	66	UD/Major Surge
89-90	90-91	-	67	AB/Major Surge
-	92-96	-	68	FL/Major Surge
91-92	97	59-68	69-73	AM/Minor Lull
93		69-73	74-76	AS/Minor Lull
94		74-78	77-79	M/Minor Lull
		79-80	80-82	UD/Minor Lull

Use Context C:

If the creature and its allies represent a high level of threat comparable to the PCs; that is, the **party is outmatched**.

• 🔷 Use Context D:

If you wish to decrease the difficulty that the creature and its allies represent to the party; that is, you wish a **reduced challenge** scenario.

- San Sector	and the second		and the second	and the second sec
ΔA	B	C C	D	Outcome
95	-	81-85	83-85	AB/Minor Lull
-	98-99		86-87	FL/Minor Lull
96-97	-	86-90	88-90	AM/Major Lull
98	-	91-93	91-92	AS/Major Lull
99	-	94-96	93-95	M/Major Lull
-	-	97	96-97	UD/Major Lull
00	-	98-00	98-99	AB/Major Lull
-	00	-	00	FL/Major Lull

FlexTable 3: Brute Role; Fresh Stance: Targeting

	ΔA	B	C 🖸	D	Outcome
- Mart	01-23	01-06	01-16	01-06	Frontline
	24-28	07-11	17-26	07-21	Rearguard
	29-60	12-19	27-41	22-26	Closest
	61-65	20-22	42-56	27-76	K Farthest
	66-80	23-37	57-71	77-91	Strongest
	81-90	38-72	72-74	92-93	Weakest
	91-95	73-97	75-87	94-95	Ranged Enemy
	96-00	98-00	88-00	96-00	Melee Enemy

Soldier / Fresh

Contexts

• 🔷 Use Context A:

By **default**, if the creature and its allies represent a comparable challenge to that of the party, or if no other Context described applies to the circumstances.

• 🛆 Use Context B:

If the creature and its allies represent a low level of threat to the party; i.e., the **creature is outmatched**.

FlexTable 4: Soldier Role; Fresh Stance: Action

ΔA	В	C	D	Outcome
1-41	1-21	1-31	1-21	X Attack Main
42-61	22-26	32-46	22-26	Attack Secondary
62-64	27-34	47	27-29	Maneuver
65-66	35-39	-	30-31	Use / Defend
67-71	40-41	48-62	32-36	Ability
-	42-51	-	37	Flee
72-79	52-59	63-72	38-40	AM/Minor Surge
80	60	73-77	41-42	AS/Minor Surge
81	61	-	43	M/Minor Surge
82	62	-	44	UD/Minor Surge
83	63	78-80	45	AB/Minor Surge
-	64-68	-	46	FL/Minor Surge
84-86	69	81-85	47	AM/Major Surge
87	70	86-88	48	AS/Major Surge
88	71	-	49	M/Major Surge
89	72	-	50	UD/Major Surge
90	73	89-90	51	AB/Major Surge
-	74-76	-	52	FL/Major Surge
91	77	91	53-57	AM/Minor Lull
92	78	92	58-62	AS/Minor Lull
93	79	93	63-67	M/Minor Lull
-	-	-	68-75	UD/Minor Lull

Use Context C:

If the creature and its allies represent a high level of threat comparable to the PCs; that is, the **party is outmatched**.

• 🔷 Use Context D:

If you wish to decrease the difficulty that the creature and its allies represent to the party; that is, you wish a **reduced challenge** scenario.

				Outcome
Â	B	🔷 C	D	Outcome
94	80	94	76-80	AB/Minor Lull
95	81-90	95	81-85	FL/Minor Lull
96	91	96	86-88	AM/Major Lull
97	92	97	89-90	AS/Major Lull
98	93	98	91-93	M/Major Lull
99	94	99	94-96	UD/Major Lull
100	95	100	97-98	AB/Major Lull
-	96- 100	-	99- 100	FL/Major Lull

FlexTable 5: Soldier Role; Fresh Stance: Targeting

		and	And the second second	and the second sec
ΔA	B	C 🖸	D	Outcome
1-41	1-41	1-21	1-40	Frontline
	-		-	Rearguard
42-76	42-76	22-51	-	Closest
-	-		-	Farthest
77-86	77-86	52-86	41-80	Strongest
87-88	87-88	87-88	-	Weakest
89-90	89-90	89-90	-	Ranged Enemy
91- 100	91- 100	91- 100	81- 100	Melee Enemy

Artillery / Fresh

Contexts

• 🔷 Use Context A:

By **default**, if the creature and its allies represent a comparable challenge to that of the party, or if no other Context described applies to the circumstances.

• 🖸 Use Context B:

If the creature and its allies represent a low level of threat to the party; i.e., the **creature is outmatched**.

FlexTable 6: Artillery Role; Fresh Stance: Action

ΔA	🔷 B	🔁 C	🛆 D	Outcome
1-16	1-16	1-21	1-16	Attack Main
17-31	17-31	22-41	17-31	Attack Secondary
32-41	32-39	42-44	32-46	Maneuver
42	40-44	-	47-56	Use / Defend
43-50	45-46	45-54	57-59	Ability
51-55	47-54	-	60-64	Flee
56-63	55-59	55-69	65-66	AM/Minor Surge
64-68	60-61	7 0- 77	67	AS/Minor Surge
69-71	62-64	78	68-70	M/Minor Surge
72-73	65-66	-	71-72	UD/Minor Surge
74-78	67-71	79-86	73-75	AB/Minor Surge
	72-74	-	76	FL/Minor Surge
79-83	75-79	87-89	77-78	AM/Major Surge
84-87	80-83	90-91	79	AS/Major Surge
88	84	92	80	M/Major Surge
89	85	-	81	UD/Major Surge
90	86	93-95	82	AB/Major Surge
-	87-88	96-98	83	FL/Major Surge
91-92	89	99	84-88	AM/Minor Lull
93	90	100	89	AS/Minor Lull
94	91	-	90	M/Minor Lull
-	-	-	91	UD/Minor Lull

Use Context C:

If the creature and its allies represent a high level of threat comparable to the PCs; that is, the **party is outmatched**.

• 🖄 Use Context D:

If you wish to decrease the difficulty that the creature and its allies represent to the party; that is, you wish a **reduced challenge** scenario.

and the second second	A CONTRACT OF		and the second second	and the second
ΔA	B	C 🖸	D	Outcome
95	92	-	92	AB/Minor Lull
-	93-95	-	93	FL/Minor Lull
96-97	96	-	94-95	AM/Major Lull
98	97		96	AS/Major Lull
99	98		97	M/Major Lull
-	-		98	UD/Major Lull
100	99	-	99	AB/Major Lull
-	100	-	100	FL/Major Lull

FlexTable 7: Artillery Role; Fresh Stance: Targeting

	-	-	-	
ΔA	ΔB	C	D	Outcome
1-6	1	1-6	1-16	Frontline
7-26	3-22	7-21	17-31	Rearguard
27-31	23-24	22-26	32-33	Closest
32-51	25-44	27-36	34-53	K Farthest
52-71	45-54	37-71	54-93	Strongest
72-83	55-79	72-83	-	Weakest
84-98	80-99	84-98	94-98	Ranged Enemy
99- 100	100	99- 100	99- 100	Melee Enemy

Skirmisher / Fresh

Contexts

• 🔷 Use Context A:

By **default**, if the creature and its allies represent a comparable challenge to that of the party, or if no other Context described applies to the circumstances.

• 🛆 Use Context B:

If the creature and its allies represent a low level of threat to the party; i.e., the **creature is outmatched**.

FlexTable 8: Skirmisher Role; Fresh Stance: Action

Â	B	C C	D	Outcome
1-6	1-6	1-11	1-9	Xttack Main
7-16	7-11	12-26	10-16	Attack Secondary
17-36	12-36	27-36	17-27	Maneuver
37-38	37-41	37	28-29	Use / Defend
39-53	42-56	38-54	30-34	Ability
54-55	57-61		35-39	Flee
56-63	62-65	55-64	40-44	AM/Minor Surge
64-65	66	65-69	45	AS/Minor Surge
66-70	67-71	70-71	46-48	M/Minor Surge
71	72	72	49	UD/Minor Surge
72-76	73-74	73-77	50	AB/Minor Surge
-	75-76		51	FL/Minor Surge
77-81	77-78	78-84	-	AM/Major Surge
82	79	85-87	-	AS/Major Surge
83-85	80-81	88	-	M/Major Surge
86	82	89	-	UD/Major Surge
87	83	90-94	-	AB/Major Surge
88	84-86	-	-	FL/Major Surge
89-90	87-88	95-96	52-59	AM/Minor Lull
91	89	97	60-64	AS/Minor Lull
-	-		65-72	M/Minor Lull
92	90	-	73-75	UD/Minor Lull

Use Context

If the creature and its allies represent a high level of threat comparable to the PCs; that is, the **party is outmatched**.

C:

• 🙆 Use Context D:

If you wish to decrease the difficulty that the creature and its allies represent to the party; that is, you wish a **reduced challenge** scenario.

ΔA	B	C 🖸	D	Outcome
93	91		76-78	AB/Minor Lull
94	92-94	-	79-81	FL/Minor Lull
95-96	95-96	98	82-86	AM/Major Lull
97	97	99	87-89	AS/Major Lull
	-		90-94	M/Major Lull
98	-		95-96	UD/Major Lull
99	98	100	97-98	AB/Major Lull
100	99- 100	-	99- 100	FL/Major Lull

FlexTable 9: Skirmisher Role; Fresh Stance: Targeting

ΔA	B	C 🖸	D	Outcome
1-3	1	1-3	1-16	Frontline
4-23	3-24	4-33	17-36	Rearguard
24-33	25-32	34-38	37-46	Closest
34-58	33-52	39-43	47-61	K Farthest
59-83	53-67	44-78	62-91	Strongest
84-98	68-97	79-98	92-93	Weakest
99	98-99	99	94-95	Ranged Enemy
100	100	100	96- 100	Melee Enemy

Lurker / Fresh

Contexts

• 🔷 Use Context A:

By **default**, if the creature and its allies represent a comparable challenge to that of the party, or if no other Context described applies to the circumstances.

• 🛆 Use Context B:

If the creature and its allies represent a low level of threat to the party; i.e., the **creature is outmatched**.

FlexTable 10: Lurker Role; Fresh Stance: Action

Â	B	C C	D	Outcome
1-9	1-6	1-11	1-6	Xttack Main
10-13	7-8	12-16	7-9	Attack Secondary
14-18	9-13	17-19	10-14	Maneuver
19-30	14-33	20-24	15-24	Use / Defend
31-50	34-48	25-49	25-36	Ability
51-52	49-53		37-41	Flee
53-55	54-55	50-56	42-43	AM/Minor Surge
56-57	56	57-61	44	AS/Minor Surge
58-60	57-58	62-64	45-46	M/Minor Surge
61-65	59-66	65-67	47-51	UD/Minor Surge
66-73	67-69	68- 77	52-54	AB/Minor Surge
74	70-72		55-59	FL/Minor Surge
75-76	73	78-82	60	AM/Major Surge
77	74	83-84	61	AS/Major Surge
78-79	75	85-86	62	M/Major Surge
80-82	76-77	87-88	63-65	UD/Major Surge
83-87	78-79	89-96	66-67	AB/Major Surge
88	80-82	-	68-72	FL/Major Surge
89-90	83-84	97	73-74	AM/Minor Lull
91	85	98	75	AS/Minor Lull
92	86	99	76	M/Minor Lull
-	-		77-81	UD/Minor Lull

• 🖸 Use Context

If the creature and its allies represent a high level of threat comparable to the PCs; that is, the **party is outmatched**.

C

• 🔷 Use Context D:

If you wish to decrease the difficulty that the creature and its allies represent to the party; that is, you wish a **reduced challenge** scenario.

				Outcome
ΔA	🔷 B	🔁 C	D	Outcome
93	87	100	82	AB/Minor Lull
94	88-92		83-87	FL/Minor Lull
95-96	93-94	-	88-89	AM/Major Lull
97	95	-	90	AS/Major Lull
98	96	-	91	M/Major Lull
-	-	-	92-94	UD/Major Lull
99	97	-	95	AB/Major Lull
100	98- 100	-	96- 100	FL/Major Lull

FlexTable 11: Lurker Role; Fresh Stance: Targeting

	-		-	
ΔA	B	C 🖸	D	Outcome
1-31	1-31	1-41	1-21	Frontline
32-40	32-42	42-46	22-23	Rearguard
41-90	43-82	47-76	24-73	Closest
91-92	83-84	77-78	74-75	Farthest
93-94	85-86	79-94	76-94	Strongest
95-96	87-96	95-96	95-96	Weakest
97-98	97-98	97-98	97-98	Ranged Enemy
99- 100	99- 100	99- 100	99- 100	Melee Enemy

Controller / Fresh

Contexts

• 🔷 Use Context A:

By **default**, if the creature and its allies represent a comparable challenge to that of the party, or if no other Context described applies to the circumstances.

• 🛆 Use Context B:

If the creature and its allies represent a low level of threat to the party; i.e., the **creature is outmatched**.

FlexTable 12: Controller Role; Fresh Stance: Action

Â	B	C	D	Outcome
1-9	1-6	1-11	1-6	Attack Main
10-17	7-11	12-21	7-11	Attack Secondary
18-19	12-14	22	12-16	Maneuver
20-21	15-19	23	17-21	Use / Defend
22-51	20-49	24-49	22-41	Ability
-	50-52	-	42-46	Flee
52-56	53-57	50-57	47-48	AM/Minor Surge
57-61	58-62	58-65	49-50	AS/Minor Surge
62	63	66	51	M/Minor Surge
63	64	67	52	UD/Minor Surge
64-68	65-74	68- 77	53-54	AB/Minor Surge
-	75-76	-	55-56	FL/Minor Surge
69-71	77	78-80	57-59	AM/Major Surge
72-74	78	81-83	60-62	AS/Major Surge
75	79	84	63	M/Major Surge
76	80	85	64	UD/Major Surge
77-79	81-83	86-90	65	AB/Major Surge
-	84	-	66	FL/Major Surge
80-82	85	91	67-71	AM/Minor Lull
83-85	86	92	72-76	AS/Minor Lull
86	87	-	77-81	M/Minor Lull
87	88	-	82-85	UD/Minor Lull

Use Context C:

If the creature and its allies represent a high level of threat comparable to the PCs; that is, the **party is outmatched**.

• 🔷 Use Context D:

If you wish to decrease the difficulty that the creature and its allies represent to the party; that is, you wish a **reduced challenge** scenario.

				100 Mar 100 Mar	
2	ΔA	B	C 🖸	D	Outcome
	88-92	89-91	93-95	86-90	AB/Minor Lull
	-	92-94	-	91-93	FL/Minor Lull
	93-94	95	96	94-95	AM/Major Lull
	95-96	96	97	96	AS/Major Lull
	97	97	98	97	M/Major Lull
	98	98	99	98	UD/Major Lull
	99- 100	99	100	99	AB/Major Lull
	-	100	-	100	FL/Major Lull

FlexTable 13: Controller Role; Fresh Stance: Targeting

	1.00		and the second s	
ΔA	B	C	D	Outcome
1-16	1-11	1-11	1-26	Frontline
17-31	12-21	12-21	27-36	Rearguard
32-46	22-31	22-41	37-46	Closest
47-61	32-41	42-51	47-71	K Farthest
62-76	42-51	52-81	72-96	Strongest
77-91	52-91	82-91	97	Weakest
92-95	92-95	92-95	98	Ranged Enemy
96- 100	96- 100	96- 100	99- 100	Melee Enemy
Leader / Fresh

Contexts

• 🔷 Use Context A:

By **default**, if the creature and its allies represent a comparable challenge to that of the party, or if no other Context described applies to the circumstances.

• 🖸 Use Context B:

If the creature and its allies represent a low level of threat to the party; i.e., the **creature is outmatched**.

FlexTable 14: Leader Role; Fresh Stance: Action

100	18.00	-	-	
ΔA	🔁 B	C 🖸	D	Outcome
1-11	1-9	1-11	1-6	Attack Main
12-21	10-17	12-21	7-11	The Attack Secondary
22-26	18-22	22-26	12-16	Maneuver
27-31	23-30	27-31	17-21	Use / Defend
32-44	31-40	32-44	22-26	Ability
	41-43	-	27-29	Flee
45-57	44-51	45-59	30-34	AM/Minor Surge
58-62	52-54	60-65	35-37	AS/Minor Surge
63-64	55-56	66-67	38-39	M/Minor Surge
65-66	57-58	68-69	40-44	UD/Minor Surge
67-71	59-61	70-74	45-47	AB/Minor Surge
	62-64	-	48-55	FL/Minor Surge
72-79	65-69	75-84	56-60	AM/Major Surge
80-82	70-71	85-92	61-62	AS/Major Surge
83	72	93-94	63	M/Major Surge
84	73-75	95	64-66	UD/Major Surge
85-87	76-78	96- 100	67-69	AB/Major Surge
-	79-80	-	70-74	FL/Major Surge
88-90	81-83	-	75-77	AM/Minor Lull
91	84	-	78	AS/Minor Lull
92	85	-	79	M/Minor Lull
93	86-87	-	80-84	UD/Minor Lull

Use Context C:

If the creature and its allies represent a high level of threat comparable to the PCs; that is, the **party is outmatched**.

• 🔷 Use Context D:

If you wish to decrease the difficulty that the creature and its allies represent to the party; that is, you wish a **reduced challenge** scenario.

- Carlos	and the second se		and the second second	and the second sec
ΔA	B	C	D	Outcome
94	88	-	85	AB/Minor Lull
-	89-91	-	86-90	FL/Minor Lull
95-96	92-93	-	91-92	AM/Major Lull
97	94	-	93	AS/Major Lull
98	95	-	94	M/Major Lull
99	96-97	-	95-97	UD/Major Lull
100	98	-	98	AB/Major Lull
-	99- 100	-	99- 100	FL/Major Lull

FlexTable 15: Leader Role; Fresh Stance: Targeting

	-		-	
ΔA	B	C [2	D	Outcome
1-16	1-6	1-16	1-21	Frontline
17-26	7-11	17-21	22-24	Rearguard
27-41	12-41	22-46	25-39	Closest
42-46	42-46	47-51	40-64	K Farthest
47-76	47-56	52-86	65-94	Strongest
77-96	57-96	87-96	95-96	Weakest
97-98	97-98	97-98	97-98	Ranged Enemy
99- 100	99- 100	99- 100	99- 100	Melee Enemy



Monster Reference

Crunch and Fluff

"Crunch" is a term commonly used to refer to the dozens of statistics that describe a creature from the standpoint of raw game mechanics. Although there is a great deal of flexibility in these stat blocks being used to convey flavor, demeanor, behavior, and personality, such "softer" yet still important game elements are often referred to as "fluff".

Each GM and player has their own relationship to these game elements, and preferences as to their balance in gameplay. Some groups live by crunch, and largely ignore fluff; adventures tend to be little more than an organized dungeon crawl, and min/maxing your PC's character options and equipment is commonplace. Other groups focus solely on storytelling, and use game mechanics only when it's necessary to introduce a bit of randomness to the proceedings.

You can have a great deal of fun at either end of the spectrum, or anywhere in between!

Quadded Stat Blocks and Default Language

Any of a creature's **fluff** uses language assuming that you are playing the **Low** level of difficulty version of that creature. For example, the **Low** level of an NPC might wield a run-of-the-mill rapier, and the **Elite** version might instead use a +3 corrosive burst rapier; the descriptions that accompany that NPC would refer merely to her rapier as the default equipment. Similarly, any illustrations drawn will typically use imagery associated with **Low**-challenge gear and items.

Feader

The **header** is simply the name of the monster. NPCs have a name, and also parenthetically their position, job title, profession, or how they are best known.

It's worth noting that not every monster and NPC is meant to be defeated in combat... in fact, the GM is encouraged to award **XP** only for combat that is consistent with the alignment and characters of the PCs, or if they are forced into combat by circumstances beyond their control. A Lawful Good Paladin, for example, should not reap XP for conducting a baseless murder spree of first-level townsfolk.

Quadded Stat Blocks

Note that unless otherwise specified, bonuses and penalties from all sources should be included already in the figures provided. For example, the **Attacks** section should reflect ability score modifiers, skill and feat modifiers, special ability / special quality modifiers, and modifiers derived from the enhancement bonuses of the weapon itself.

The **exception** to this is effects coming from magical weapons: for example, a *corrosive light crossbow* might show as dealing **1d8** damage. This value does not, however, include the *corrosive* effect, which normally causes the weapon to deal an additional **1d6** points of acid damage when the effect is activated.

Also of note is the **Prepared Spells** section. For NPCs with class levels of a spellcasting class that must prepare spells in advance, this section reflects a suggested pool of spells that have been memorized or that are otherwise ready to cast. The GM is of course encouraged to modify the list as she desires to fit the circumstances of gameplay; for example, if the party starts attacking townsfolk willy-nilly, then spellcasters in town might be more likely to ready defensive and combat spells.

Finally, the **Treasure** section in the stat blocks lists the equipment normally carried or used by the creature. Gold, jewels, and non-combat items that do not have an impact on game mechanics and crunch are not listed here.

Special Abilities

All **special abilities**, **auras**, **special qualities**, and other remarkable effects that apply to the creature are described here, in alphabetical order.

Note that this section lists a **complete set** of possible special abilities that apply to the creature taken from its **Elite** stat block. Individual stat blocks above this section will list out which special abilities / SQs apply to the creature in its various forms of CR.

With this, and the **Feats** section afterward, there is considerable duplication—many NPCs have **Low-Light Vision**, for example. This is **by design**, and speaks to a common complaint among GMs: bestiaries and NPC listings are great for getting the vital details, but it's often hard to remember just exactly what the **Power Attack** feat means.

The intent with the **Infinium Game Studios** approach to NPC and monster definitions is to make it as easy as possible to play a given creature, without having to refer to multiple other rulebooks. GMs dancing among tomes, trying to cross-reference dozens of characteristics to figure out what the creature does next is unsatisfying, wasteful of time, and takes everyone in the game out of immersion—"hold on, let me remind myself what an Alchemist's **Explosive Bombs** are like" doesn't exactly keep players on the edge of their seats!

Feats

All **feats** taken by the creature in its class level progression are listed here, in alphabetical order. As with the **Special Abilities** section, the list here is a superset of everything that applies to the **Elite** version of the creature; specific feats taken at lower-challenge iterations are listed in the **Feats** section of the quadded stat block.

Creasure

If the creature carries wealth, jewels, or valuables beyond their equipment listed earlier, such booty is described here. Creatures whose only possessions are arms and armor might not have this section at all. Kobold



			🗵 Low	,	\mathbf{X}	Moderat	e 🗵		🔀 Elite			
O Terrain				Т	empe	rate Unde	erground	or Deep Fore	st			
Q Rarity						(Common					
Role						Skirm	isher / M	inion				
Organizat	tion		S	olitary, G	iang (i	2-4x), Ne	st (5-30)	(+), or Tribe (31-300x+)			
					Incidental							
	>	≤ Lo	w	\times	🗵 Moderate			dvanced	🗵 Elite			
	15			16			× /		19			
Armor Class	(natura	larmo	or)	(natura	larmo	or)		l armor)	(natural armor)			
Hit Points	4			21			65		127			
Speed	30 ft					St.			and the second s			
Size, Type, Alignment	Small hı evil	imanoi	d, lawful	Small hu evil	manoio	d, lawful	Small hu evil	manoid, lawful	Medium humanoid, lawful evil			
	STR	7	(-2)	STR	8	(-1)	STR	12 (+1)	STR 17 (+3)			
A 1 -11-1	DEX	11	(+0)	DEX	11		DEX	16 (+3)	DEX 14 (+2)			
Ability Scores /	CON		(-1)	CON	8	(-1)	CON	12 (+1)	CON 16 (+3)			
Saves	INT	8	(-1)	INT	8	(-1)	INT	12 (+1)	INT 12 (+1)			
	WIS	7	(-2)	WIS	7	(-2)	WIS	11 (+0)	WIS 11 (+0)			
Co. in Theorem	CHA	6	(-2)	CHA	6	(-2)	CHA	10 (+0)	CHA 10 (+0)			
Saving Throws Resistances				-			-		CONTRACTOR SOLUTION			
Immunities												
Vulnerabilities	Dazzle	d in B	right Ligl	nt								
Senses			tion +8, ft.	Passive F Darkvisio			Passive F Darkvisio	Perception +14, on 60 ft.	Passive Perception +15, Darkvision 60 ft.			
Languages	Dracor	iic, Dv	warven, C				3.2		State of the second			
Challenge	1			5			9		13			
Standard Actions	Longspe attack: - 5 ft., one 1d6+0/s damage. Sling Ra attack: + target. H bludgeo	2 to hit e target x3 (4) p nged w -1 to hi Hit 1d3	t. Hit piercing veapon it, one 3+0 (2)	attack: -	I to hit arget. ercing nged w 0 to hi lit 1d3	Hit 1d6/ damage. eapon t, one (4)	reach 5 H Hit 1d6 damage. Sling Rar attack: + target. H	ar Melee attack: +2 to hit, ft., one target. x3 (1) piercing nged weapon 4 to hit, one dit 1d3+2 (4) ning damage.	Longspear Melee weapon attack: +4 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d6+9/x3 (12) piercing damage. Sling Ranged weapon attack: +2 to hit, one target. Hit 1d3+4 (6) bludgeoning damage.			
Spellcasting	-		15 - 1 - 11 - 1	(20)								
Possessions	Longspea	ır; sling;	; sling bullet	s (20x)					Carlos and			

Ζом	BI	Ð							\bigcirc			
			× Low	/	\mathbf{X}	Nodera t	te 🛛 🔁	Advanced		× Elite		
O Terrain							Any					
Q Rarity						L	Incommo	on				
Role					Brute / Minion							
🖸 Organizat	anization				Any							
					None							
	[× Lo	W	×	Mod	erate	\mathbf{X}	Advanced	>	Elite		
Armor Class	14		1	14	254	Series -	16	122	18			
		al armo	or)	(natura	l armo	or4		al armor 5		armor6		
Hit Points	14			35			75		106			
Speed	30 ft		(aug)		1.	200						
Size,Type, Alignment	Mediun evil	า undeac	d, neutral	Medium evil	undead	d, neutral	Medium evil	ı undead, neutral	Large un	dead, neutral evil		
	STR		(+2)	STR		(+3)	STR	18 (+4)	STR	21 (+5)		
Ability	DEX	8	(-1)	DEX	8	(-1)	DEX	12 (+1)	DEX	10 (+0)		
Scores /	CON		(+0)	CON		(+0)	CON		CON	10 (+0)		
Saves	INT WIS	8	(+0)	INT WIS	8	(+0) (-1)	INT WIS	10 (+0) 12 (+1)	INT WIS	10 (+0)		
	CHA		(-1)	CHA	8	(-1)	CHA	12 (+1)	CHA	12 (+1) 12 (+1)		
Saving Throws	-					2(2)23	·	(1)		12 (11)		
Resistances	all phy	sical at	tacks ex	cept slas	hing							
Immunities	diseas	ed, exh	austion,	fatigued	l, psyc	hic, para	lyzed, po	isoned, uncon	scious, st	unned		
Vulnerabilities	-						<u> </u>					
Senses		Percept ion 60 ft		Passive Darkvisi				Perception +11, on 60 ft.	Passive F Darkvisio	Perception +11, on 60 ft.		
Languages	-											
Challenge	2			6			10		14			
Special Abilities & Qualities								ingle move action ne round as a cha		d action each		
Standard Actions	attack: ft., one	target. H	apon t, reach 5 Hit 1d4+5 g damage.		-5 to hi e target (12) blu	t, reach	attack: + reach 5 Hit 1d6	elee weapon -5 to hit, ft., one target. +12 (16) ning damage.	attack: + 10 ft., or Hit 1d8+			

damage.

bludgeoning damage.

bludgeoning damage.

SKELETON

SKELE	ΓΟΝ			
	🔀 Low	🔀 Moderate	🔀 Advanced	× Elite
? Terrain			Any	
Rarity		Co	ommon	
🔁 Role		Brute	e / Minion	
Organization			Any	
🗜 Treasure			None	
	⊠ Low	Moderate	➢ Advanced	🛛 Elite

Armor Class	15 (natural armor)	15 (natural armor)	18 (natural armor)	19 (natural armor)		
Hit Points	7	27	42	61		
Speed	30 ft.					
Size, Type, Alignment	Medium undead, neutral evil	Medium undead, neutral evil	Medium undead, neutral evil	Large undead, neutral evil		
Ability Scores / Saves	STR 13 (+1) DEX 12 (+1) CON 10 (+0) INT 10 (+0) WIS 8 (-1) CHA 8 (-1)	STR 14 (+2) DEX 12 (+1) CON 10 (+0) INT 10 (+0) WIS 8 (-1) CHA 8 (-1)	STR18 (+4)DEX16 (+3)CON10 (+0)INT10 (+0)WIS12 (+1)CHA8 (-1)	STR 20 (+5) DEX 14 (+2) CON 10 (+0) INT 10 (+0) WIS 12 (+1) CHA 8 (-1)		
Saving Throws	-					
Resistances	all physical attacks exc	1 0 0				
Immunities Vulnerabilities	Cold, diseased, exhaus	stion, fatigued, psychic,	paralyzed, poisoned, u	nconscious, stunned		
Senses	Passive Perception +9, Darkvision 60 ft.	Passive Perception +9, Darkvision 60 ft.	Passive Perception +11, Darkvision 60 ft.	Passive Perception +11, Darkvision 60 ft.		
Languages Challenge	1	6	10	14		
enanenge	1	0	10	17		
Standard Actions	Scimitar Melee weapon attack: +2 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d6/18-00 (6) slashing damage. Claw Melee weapon	Scimitar Melee weapon attack: +3 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d618-00 (4) slashing damage. Claw Melee weapon	Scimitar Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d6+6/18-00 (10) slashing damage. Claw Melee weapon	Scimitar Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 10 ft., one target. Hit 1d6+11/18-00 (14) slashing damage. Claw Melee weapon		
	attack: +2 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d4+2 (4) slashing damage.	attack: +3 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d6+3 (6) slashing damage.	attack: +5 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d6+5 (8) slashing damage.	attack: +5 to hit, reach 10 ft., one target. Hit 1d8+8 (12) slashing damage.		

	237		-		22		-		C. California	all a state		
ORC	ļ							M	/ h	↓		
		ſ										
		l	× Low			loderat		Advance		≚ Elite		
O Terrain				len	perate			s, or Undergr	ound			
Q Rarity					Common							
Role							ute / Mini					
🖸 Organiza	tion		Sc	olitary, Ga	ng (2-	· ·		0x+), or Band	l (30-100x	+)		
Treasure							Incidental					
		× Lo	w	\mathbf{X}	Node	erate		dvanced	*	Elite		
Armor Class	14 (natur	al armo	or)	14 (natural	armo	r)	17 (natural	armor)	18 (natural	armor)		
Hit Points	6			48			93		162			
Speed	30 f	t.										
Size, Type, Alignment	Mediur chaotic	n humar evil	ıoid,	Medium chaotic e		oid,	Medium chaotic e	humanoid, evil	Large hui evil	manoid, chaotic		
Ability Scores / Saves	STR DEX CON INT WIS CHA	9 1 10 5 6	(+2) (-1) (+0) (-3) (-2) (-3)	STR DEX CON INT WIS CHA	9 10 5 6	(+3) (-1) (+0) (-3) (-2) (-3)	STR DEX CON INT WIS CHA	18 (+4) 13 (+1) 14 (+2) 9 (-1) 10 (+0) 8 (-1)	DEX CON INT WIS	21 (+5) 11 (+0) 17 (+3) 9 (-1) 10 (+0) 8 (-1)		
Saving Throws	-											
Resistances Immunities												
Vulnerabilities	- Light	Sensitiv	vity			-						
Senses	Passive	Percept ion 60 f	tion +8,	Passive F Darkvisio			Passive F Darkvisio	Perception +10 on 60 ft.	, Passive F Darkvisic	Perception +10, on 60 ft.		
Languages	_	non, Or	rc				10					
Challenge	1			6			10		14			
Special Abilities & Qualities	Light So	ensitivity	y You are o	azzled in a	reas of	bright sur	nlight or wit	hin the radius	of a daylight	spell.		
Standard Actions	attack: 5 ft., or 2d4/18	n Melee +4 to hi target 3-00 (4/ g damag	. Hit 19)	Falchion attack: + 5 ft., one 2d4+6/1 slashing	5 to hit target. 8-00 (, reach Hit 11)	attack: + 5 ft., one	Melee weapon 5 to hit, reach target. Hit (18-00 (15) damage.	attack: + 10 ft., on	Melee weapon 7 to hit, reach e target. Hit 18-00 (21) damage.		
	attack: target.	Ranged v +0 to hi Hit 1d6 oning da	t, one +3 (6)	Javelin Ra attack: -1 target. H bludgeor	to hit, lit 1d64	one -4 (8)	attack: + target. H	anged weapon 1 to hit, one lit 1d6+6 (10) ning damage.	attack: -1 target. H	anged weapon to hit, one lit 1d6+9 (12) ning damage.		

and the second	🖂 Low	🗵 Moderate	🖂 Advanced	× Elite	20
Legendary	-				
Actions					Ě
Innate	Constant of the				¢ +
Spellcasting			Charling Constraints		e e
Spellcasting	-				
Possessions	Falchion; javelin (6x)	C			



Illustration 1: Orc

Spid	ER	(GL	N T	[)			\bigcirc			
2			× Low	,	🔀 Modera	te 🔀	Advanced	>	< Elite		
O Terrain					_	Any	-				
Q Rarity											
Role					Lui	ker / Nor	mal				
🖸 Organizat	tion			Solitary, Pair, or Colony (3-8x)							
Treasure						Incidenta	l				
					Madarata		duancad		Elite		
The second	15	× Lo	W	15	Moderate	16	Advanced		Einte		
Armor Class		al armo	or)		l armor)		l armor)	17 (natural a	armor)		
Hit Points	19		,	40	,	96	,	152	,		
Speed	30 ft	. Clir	nb 30	ft.							
Size, Type, Alignment	Mediun unalign	n vermir ed	١,	Medium unaligne		Medium unaligne		Large vern	nin, unaligned		
	STR DEX	9	(-1) (+2)	STR DEX	9 (-1) 16 (+3)	STR DEX	14 (+2) 18 (+4)	STR DEX	17 (+3) 17 (+3)		
Ability	CON		(+2)	CON	10 (+0)	CON	14 (+2)	CON	17 (+3)		
Scores / Saves	INT		(+0)	INT	10 (+0)	INT	10 (+0)	INT	10 (+0)		
Javes	WIS	8	(-1)	WIS	8 (-1)	WIS	12 (+1)	WIS	12 (+1)		
	CHA	1	(-5)	CHA	1 (-5)	CHA	4 (-3)	CHA	4 (-3)		
Saving Throws	-					-		-			
Resistances											
Immunities Vulnerabilities	psych	С				-					
Senses	+9, Dar	Percept kvision	60 ft.,	+9, Dark	Perception vision 60 ft.,	+11, Dai	Perception kvision 60 ft.,		vision 60 ft.,		
Languages	Tremor	sense 60	0 ft.	Tremors	ense 60 ft.	Tremors	ense 60 ft.	Tremorser	nse 60 ft.		
Languages Challenge	3			7		11		15			
Special	Saving	Throw		Saving T	hrow	Saving T	hrow	Saving Th	ow		
Abilities &	Constit	ution D		Constitu	tion DC 13	Constitu	Constitution DC 26		on DC 28		
Qualities					n; frequency 1/ro s effect is recove		ounds; effect 1d2 ng a long rest.	Strength da	mage; cure 1		

- 7 -	🖂 Low	🗵 Moderate	🔀 Advanced	× Elite
Special Abilities & Qualities	you can throw a web up to range of 50 feet, with a ra larger than you. An entang a Strength check. Attempt can create sheets of sticky snare flying creatures but on a Perception check to a successful web attack. A creature has something to	Check DC 13 support yourself and up to o be eight times per day. This is nge increment of 10 feet, and led creature can escape with to burst a web by those can y webbing up to three times can also try to trap prey on t notice a web; otherwise they ttempts to escape or burst to walk on or grab while pulling oint the location of any creat	similar to an attack with a r nd is effective against target n a successful Athletics cher nught in it are made at disad their size. They usually posi he ground. Approaching cre y stumble into it and becom the webbing are made at adv og free. A creature can move	net but has a maximum s up to one size category ck or burst the web with vantage. Web spinners tion these sheets to eatures must succeed he trapped as though by vantage if the trapped
Standard Actions	Bite Melee weapon attack: -2 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d6 (6) piercing damage.	Bite Melee weapon attack: -2 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d8 (8) piercing damage.	Bite Melee weapon attack: +2 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d8+4 (8) piercing damage.	Bite Melee weapon attack: +3 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 2d6+7 (14) piercing damage.
Legendary Actions	-			
Innate Spellcasting				
Spellcasting Possessions				

DRAGON (BLACK, YOUNG)

DRAC	ON		BLA	CK	, 1 0	JUN	NG)			C ·	
			🔀 Low	,	×N	loderat	te	🔀 Ac	lvanced		× Elite
• Terrain						Wa	rm Ma	rshes			
Q Rarity							Rare				
🔁 Role		Cont	roller /	Elite	Contro	ller / E	lite	Leade	r / Elite	Lea	ader / Elite
Organizat	tion						Solita	ry			
Treasure				Triple							
		× Lo	w	×	Mode	erate	$\mathbf{\times}$	Adva	nced	>	< Elite
Armor Class	17 (natura	al armo	or)	17 (natur	al armo	r)	19 (natu	ral arm	or)	20 (natural	armor)
Hit Points	31			86			16	6		275	
Speed	60 ft	. Swi	im 60 f	ft. Fly	100 f	t. (Ave	erage)	1.000	and a		
Size, Type, Alignment	Tiny dra	ıgon, ch	naotic evil	Mediur evil	n dragon	, chaotic	Large evil	dragon, d	chaotic	Huge dra	agon, chaotic ev
Ability Scores / Saves	STR DEX CON INT WIS CHA	1 7 6 9	(-3) (+3) (-2) (-2) (-1) (-2)	STR DEX CON INT WIS CHA	12 1 15 8 11	(+3) (+1) (+2) (-1) (+0) (-1)	STR DE) COI INT WIS CH/	 (14 N 19 14 (17 	 (+5) (+2) (+4) (+2) (+3) (+2) 	STR DEX CON INT WIS CHA	25 (+7) 12 (+1) 22 (+6) 16 (+3) 18 (+4) 16 (+3)
Saving Throws	-			-					()		10 (15)
Resistances Immunities Vulnerabilities			ittacks ex al uncons		•	d					
Senses	Passive +9, Blin Darkvis	dsight	60 ft.,	+13, Bl	Percept indsight ion 120	60 ft.,	+17,8	e Percep Blindsigh ision 120	t 60 ft.,	+19, Blin	Perception Idsight 60 ft., on 120 ft.
Languages		nic, Sp	eak with		s						Construction of the
Challenge	10			14			18			22	
Special Abilities & Qualities		6d6 Veapon		Damage Acid, usat	ole with Re		Damag	exterity D ge 10d6 eapons allo		Damage 1	erity DC 21 2d6 nalf damage. You
Special	Corrupt	Water O	nce per day	an adult o	r older bla						aking it foul and tems (such as

Special Abilities & Corrupt Water Once per day an adult or older black dragon can stagnate 10 cubic feet of still water, making it foul and unable to support water-breathing life. The ability spoils liquids containing water. Liquid-based magic items (such as potions) and items in a creature's possession must succeed on a Wisdom save or become ruined. This ability is the equivalent of a 1st-level spell. Its range is 300 ft.

	🖂 Low	⊠ Moderate	➢ Advanced	× Elite						
Standard Actions	Bite Melee weapon attack: -5 to hit, reach 0 ft., one target. Hit 1d3+0 (2) piercing damage. Claws Melee weapon attack: -5 to hit, reach 0 ft., one target. Hit 1d2+0 (2) slashing damage.	Bite Melee weapon attack: +3 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d8+6 (10) piercing damage. Claws Melee weapon attack: +3 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d6+4 (8) slashing damage.	Bite Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 3d6+12 (22) piercing damage. Claws Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target.	Bite Melee weapon attack: +7 to hit, reach 10 ft., one target. Hit 4d6+19 (33) piercing damage. Claws Melee weapon attack: +7 to hit, reach 10 ft., one target.						
		Wings Melee weapon attack: +3 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d4+2 (4) bludgeoning damage.	Hit 2d6+8 (15) slashing damage. Wings Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d6+4 (8) bludgeoning damage.	Hit 3d6+13 (24) slashing damage. Wings Melee weapon attack: +7 to hit, reach 10 ft., one target. Hit 1d8+6 (10) bludgeoning damage.						
			Tail Slap Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d8+12 (16) bludgeoning damage.	Tail Slap Melee weapon attack: +7 to hit, reach 10 ft., one target. Hit 2d6+19 (26) bludgeoning damage.						
Special Actions	Save Dexterity DC 10 Damage 1d4	Save Dexterity DC 15 Damage 1d6	Save Dexterity DC 18 Damage 2d6	Save Dexterity DC 21 Damage 3d4						
Actions	Crush A flying or jumping dragon can land on foes as a standard action, using its whole body to crush them. Crush attacks are effective only against opponents three or more size categories smaller than the dragon. A crush attack affects as many creatures as fit in the dragon's space. Creatures in the affected area must succeed on a Dexterity save or be pinned, automatically taking bludgeoning damage during the next round unless the dragon moves off them. If the dragon chooses to maintain the pin, it must succeed at a grapple check. Pinned foes take damage from the crush each round if they don't escape.									
Special	Save Wisdom DC 10	Save Wisdom DC 15	Save Wisdom DC 28	Save Wisdom DC 28 Save Wisdom DC 21						
Actions	Opponents within range who with opponents with fewer Hit Dice of save. On a failed save, the oppone	ence unsettling to foes. Activating t ness the action may become frighte r levels than the creature has. An aff ent is shaken, or panicked if 4 HD c hours. Frightful presence is a mind-	ened or shaken. The range is 40 fe fected opponent can resist the eff or fewer. An opponent that succee	et. This ability affects only ects with a successful Wisdom						
Special	Speak with Reptiles A young or o with animals, but only with reptili	lder black dragon gains the constan an animals.	t spell-like ability to speak with re	ptiles. This functions as speak						
Actions	 Swamp Stride A very young or older black dragon can move through bogs and quicksand without penalty at its normal speed. Water Breathing A black dragon can breathe underwater indefinitely and can freely use its breath weapon, spells, and other abilities while submerged. 									
Innate	darkness (at will)									
Spellcasting										
Spellcasting	Known Sorcerer Spells (CL 4th):	Known Sorcerer Spells (CL 7th):	Known Sorcerer Spells (CL 9th):	Known Sorcerer Spells (CL 12th):						
	acid arrow; blur; darting duplicate; hold portal; lock gaze; magic missile; acid splash; detect magic; mage hand; prestidigitation; ray of frost	acid arrow; blur; darting duplicate; hold portal; lock gaze; magic missile; acid splash; detect magic; mage hand; prestidigitation; ray of frost	acid arrow; blur; darting duplicate; hold portal; lock gaze; magic missile; acid splash; detect magic; mage hand; prestidigitation; ray of frost	acid arrow; blur; darting duplicate; hold portal; lock gaze; magic missile; acid splash; detect magic; mage hand; prestidigitation; ray of frost						



ELEMENTAL (FIRE, MEDIUM) 🛟 👤 🗊 🖈

		🔀 Lov	v 🛛 🔀 Modera	te 🔀 Advanced	🔀 Elite						
• Terrain		Any (Plane of Fire)									
Q Rarity			Rare								
			Sol	dier / Normal							
Organizat	tion		Solitary,	Pair, or Gang (3-8x)							
		None									
100		🛛 Low 🛛 🖂 Moderate 🖂 Advanced 🛛 🖂 E									
	16	LOW	16	17	18						
Armor Class		l armor)	(natural armor)	(natural armor)	(natural armor)						
Hit Points	23		54	107	186						
Speed	50 ft.										
Size,Type, Alignment	Medium unaligne	elemental, d	Medium elemental, unaligned	Medium elemental, unaligned	Large elemental, unaligned						
	STR	10 (+0)	STR 10 (+0)	STR 14 (+2)	STR 17 (+3)						
	DEX	15 (+2)	DEX 16 (+3)	DEX 18 (+4)	DEX 18 (+4)						
Ability Scores /	CON	12 (+1)	CON 12 (+1)	CON 16 (+3)	CON 18 (+4)						
Saves	INT	2 (-4)	INT 2 (-4)	INT 6 (-2)	INT 6 (-2)						
	WIS	9 (-1)	WIS 9 (-1)	WIS 13 (+1)	WIS 13 (+1)						
Contract of the	CHA	9 (-1)	CHA 9 (-1)	CHA 13 (+1)	CHA 13 (+1)						
Saving Throws	-			-	-						
Resistances		sical attacks									
Immunities Vulnerabilities		Hits, Fire, Flanking, paralyzed, poisoned, unconscious, Sneak Attacks, stunned ability to Cold									
Senses		Perception +9,	Passive Perception +12,	Passive Perception +15,	Passive Perception +16,						
		on 60 ft.	Darkvision 60 ft.	Darkvision 60 ft.	Darkvision 60 ft.						
Languages Challenge	lgnan 4		8	12	16						
	Saving Th	Irow	Saving Throw	Saving Throw	Saving Throw						
Special Abilities &	Dexterity	DC 13	Dexterity DC 14	Dexterity DC 17	Dexterity DC 19						
Qualities	Damage	ld4	Damage 1d6	Damage 2d4	Damage 2d6						

Burn You deal fire damage in addition to damage dealt on a successful hit in melee. Those affected by the burn ability must also succeed on a Dexterity save or catch fire, taking fire damage for an additional 1d4 rounds at the start of its turn. A burning creature can attempt a new save as a full-round action. Dropping and rolling on the ground grants advantage on this save. Creatures that hit a burning creature with natural weapons or unarmed attacks take fire damage as though hit by the burning creature and must make a Dexterity save to avoid catching on fire.

	🗵 Low	🗵 Moderate	🔀 Advanced	🔀 Elite
Special Abilities & Qualities	Vulnerability to Cold You take throw is allowed, or if the sav	e half again as much (+50%) da e is a success or failure	mage as normal from Cold, re	gardless of whether a saving
Standard Actions	Slam Melee weapon attack: -1 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d6+1 (4) bludgeoning damage.	Slam Melee weapon attack: -1 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d8+1 (6) bludgeoning damage.	Slam Melee weapon attack: +1 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d8+4 (8) bludgeoning damage.	Slam Melee weapon attack: +3 to hit, reach 10 ft., one target. Hit 2d6+7 (14) bludgeoning damage.
Legendary Actions				
Innate Spellcasting				
Spellcasting	-			
Possessions				

GIANT (HILL)



			× Low	/	\mathbf{X}	Modera	te	Advance	d	× Elite	
O Terrain						Tei	nperate l	Hills			
Q Rarity							Rare				
🔁 Role						E	srute / Eli	te			
Organizat	tion		Solitary,	Gang (2	-5x), Ba	nd (6-8x)	, Raiding	Party (9-12x+)), or Tribe (13-30x+)	
Treasure				Standard							
- Incasure						27.200					
		× Lo	WC	\times	Mod	erate		Advanced		< Elite	
Armor Class	17 (natura	ural armor)		17 (natur	ral armo	or)		al armor)	18 (natura	l armor)	
Hit Points	56			86			152		187		
Speed	30 ft		The			200			Contra to		
Size,Type, Alignment	Large hi evil	ge humanoid, chaotic			Large humanoid, chaotic evil		Large h evil	Large humanoid, chaotic evil		Large humanoid, chaotic evil	
Ability Scores / Saves	STR DEX CON INT WIS CHA	K 6 (-2) N 17 (+3) 4 (-3) 5 8 (-1)		STR DEX CON INT WIS CHA	6 N 17 4 8	(+5) (-2) (+3) (-3) (-1) (-3)	STR DEX CON INT WIS CHA	8 (-1) 12 (+1)	DEX CON INT	22 (+6) 10 (+0) 18 (+4) 8 (-1) 12 (+1) 9 (-1)	
Saving Throws Resistances Immunities			5223								
Vulnerabilities											
Senses	Passive	Percep	otion +9	Passive	e Percep	tion +9	Passive	Perception +16	5 Passive	Perception +17	
Languages	Giant										
Challenge	6			10			14		18		
Special Abilities & Qualities	Once pe is 15 for	r round, a Small	, if you woul rock, 20 fo	d normally r a Mediur	v be hit by n one, and	<mark>ν a rock, yo</mark> ι d 25 for a L	ı can make a arge one. (If		o catch it as a ovides a magic	free action. The DC cal bonus on attack	
Special Abilities & Qualities	can hurl object m	rocks up hade of a	p to two cat any material	egories sn with a har	naller than dness of	n its size. A at least 5. T	"rock" is an he creature	age on attack roll y large, bulky, and can hurl the rock plus 1-1/2 your S	l relatively reg up to five ran	ge increments.	

	🖂 Low	🖂 Moderate	🖂 Advanced	🔀 Elite
Standard	Greatclub Melee	Greatclub Melee	Greatclub Melee	Greatclub Melee
Actions	weapon attack: +6 to	weapon attack: +5 to	weapon attack: +7 to	weapon attack: +6 to
	hit, reach 10 ft., one			
	target. Hit 2d8+10 (19)	target. Hit 2d8+10 (19)	target. Hit 2d8+15 (24)	target. Hit 2d8+15 (24)
	bludgeoning damage.	bludgeoning damage.	bludgeoning damage.	bludgeoning damage.
	Rock Ranged weapon	Rock Ranged weapon	Rock Ranged weapon	Rock Ranged weapon
	attack: -3 to hit, one	attack: -3 to hit, one	attack: -1 to hit, one	attack: +0 to hit, one
	target. Hit 1d8+10 (14)	target. Hit 1d8+10 (14)	target. Hit 1d8+15 (20)	target. Hit 1d8+15 (20)
	bludgeoning damage.	bludgeoning damage.	bludgeoning damage.	bludgeoning damage.
	Slam Melee weapon	Slam Melee weapon	Slam Melee weapon	Slam Melee weapon
	attack: +6 to hit, reach	attack: +5 to hit, reach	attack: +7 to hit, reach	attack: +6 to hit, reach
	10 ft., one target. Hit	10 ft., one target. Hit	10 ft., one target.	10 ft., one target.
	1d8+7 (12) bludgeoning	1d8+7 (12) bludgeoning	Hit 2d6+10 (17)	Hit 2d6+10 (17)
	damage.	damage.	bludgeoning damage.	bludgeoning damage.
Legendary Actions	-			

Actions Innate Spellcasting Spellcasting Possessions Greatclub

-

Tro				***					
	×	K Low	🔀 Moderat	e 🛛 🔀 Advanced	🔀 Elite				
O Terrain			Colo	d Mountains					
Rarity			U	ncommon					
Role			Bru	te / Normal					
🖸 Organiza	tion		Solitary	or Gang (2-4x)					
Treasure		Standard							
		Low Moderate Advanced Kelite							
Armor Class Hit Points	15 (natural armor 70	15 r) (natu]]]	ural armor) 4	17 (natural armor) 205	17 (natural armor) 293				
Speed	30 ft.	INC YOL	Ne am						
Size, Type, Alignment	Large humanoid, evil	chaotic Large evil	humanoid, chaotic	Large humanoid, chaotic evil	Huge humanoid, chaotic evil				
Ability Scores / Saves	DEX 12	(+4) STR (+1) DEX (+4) CO (-3) INT (-2) WIS (-3) CH	(12 (+1) N 18 (+4) 4 (-3) 5 7 (-2)	STR20 (+5)DEX16 (+3)CON21 (+5)INT8 (-1)WIS11 (+0)CHA8 (-1)	STR22 (+6)DEX14 (+2)CON23 (+6)INT8 (-1)WIS11 (+0)CHA8 (-1)				
Saving Throws Resistances Immunities Vulnerabilities									
Senses	Passive Percepti Darkvision 60 ft		ve Perception +8, ision 60 ft.	Passive Perception +15, Darkvision 60 ft.	Passive Perception +16, Darkvision 60 ft.				
Languages Challenge	Giant 6	10		14	19				
Special Abilities & Qualities	Regeneration Yo your regeneratio Fire causes your cannot heal any by regeneration. You can regrow	u are difficult to n is still function regeneration to s damage and can Regeneration als lost portions of y	ing (although you sti stop functioning on t die normally. Attack f o does not restore h ou body and can reat	at 5 points per round, but y Il fall unconscious when the he round following the attac orms that don't deal hit poi it points lost from starvation tach severed limbs or body are not reattached wither a	ir hit points are below 0). ck. During this round, you nt damage are not healed n, thirst, or suffocation. parts if they are brought				

Damage 2d6

Damage 4d6

Rend If you hit with two or more natural attacks in 1 round, you can cause tremendous damage by latching onto the opponent's body and tearing flesh. This attack deals an additional amount of damage, but no more

Damage 6d6

Special

Abilities &

Qualities

Damage 1d6

than once per round.





Мім	IC								
		🔀 Low		🔀 Modera	te 🔀	Advanced	🔀 Elite		
O Terrain				Any					
Q Rarity				ι	Jncommor	ı			
Role				Lu	rker / Norn	nal			
🖸 Organiza	tion				Solitary				
					Incidental				
100	[⊠ Low	\mathbf{X}	Moderate	×A	dvanced	× Elite		
Armor Class	15		16	and the second	17	120	17		
		al armor)	and a second second second	al armor)	(natural	armor)	(natural armor)		
Hit Points	15		49		97		183		
Speed	10 ft			all an					
Size,Type, Alignment	Small al unalign	berration, ed		Medium aberration, unaligned		aberration,	Large aberration, unaligned		
	STR	13 (+1)	STR	17 (+3)	STR	19 (+4)	STR 21 (+5)		
	DEX	14 (+2)	DEX	10 (+0)	DEX	14 (+2)	DEX 12 (+1)		
Ability Scores /	CON		CON	1 15 (+2)	CON	18 (+4)	CON 20 (+5)		
Saves	INT	8 (-1)	INT	8 (-1)	INT	12 (+1)	INT 12 (+1)		
	WIS CHA	11 (+0)	WIS	11 (+0)	WIS	15 (+2)	WIS 15 (+2)		
Saving Throws		8 (-1)	CHA	8 (-1)	CHA	12 (+1)	CHA 12 (+1)		
Resistances	-								
Immunities	Acid								
Vulnerabilities	- Passivo	Perception +10,	Passivo	Perception +13,	Passivo P	erception +16,	Passive Perception +17,		
Senses		ion 60 ft.		ion 60 ft.	Darkvisio		Darkvision 60 ft.		
Languages	Comm	ion	7		11		10000000000		
Challenge	3		7		11	DC 14	15		
Special Abilities & Qualities	Adhesin that tou Oppone weapor success the adh	uch it. An adhesive ents so grappled ca 1 that strikes an adh sful Strength check esive, but the mim	a thick s covered annot get nesivecoa is neede ic can sti	mimic automatica free while the mi ated mimic is stuc d to pry off a stuc ill grapple normall	a powerful ad ally grapples a mic is alive w k fast unless k weapon. St y. A mimic ca	any creature it hi vithout removing the wielder succ rong alcohol or	Saving Throw DC 20 fast any creatures or items its with its slam attack. g the adhesive first. A ceeds on a Dexterity save. A universal solvent dissolves thesive at will, and the		
Dell'a della de	substar	ice breaks down 5	rounds a	iter the creature of	lies.	1017132324	CONTRACTOR OF STREET		

Special Abilities & Qualities

Damage 1d8

Constrict You can crush an opponent, dealing bludgeoning damage, when you make a successful grapple check (in addition to any other effects caused by a successful check, including additional damage).

Damage 3d8

Damage 5d8

Damage 2d8

Special Multicol Minic Object A minic can assume the general shape of any Medumo object, such as massive chest, a strub fed varie, no matter what appearance timight present A minic is body is hard and har orugh festure, no matter what appearance timight present A minic is advantage on checks when intack +2 to hit, reach 5 ft, one target. Hit Side, 4 to hit, reach 1 fd-4 (8) bludgeoning damage. Sam Melee weapon 1 fd-6 (8) bludgeoning damage. Sam Melee weapon 1 fd-6 (10) bludgeoning damage. Sam Melee weapon attack + 5 to hit, reach to fd-6 (10) bludgeoning damage. Sam Melee weapon attack + 5 to hit, reach damage. Sam Melee weapon attack + 5 to hit, reach damage. Sam Melee weapon damage. Sam M	E Rich	🗵 Low	🔀 Moderate	🗵 Advanced	🔀 Elite
Qualitiesa rough texture, no matter what appearance it might present. A mimic gains a advantage on checks when imitating an object in this manner.Standard ActionsSlam Melee weapon attack: +2 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d6+4 (8) bludgeoningSlam Melee weapon attack: +4 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d8+6 (10) bludgeoningSlam Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target.Slam Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target.		Mimic Object A mimic ca	n assume the general shape	of any Medium object, suc	n as a massive chest, a
Slam Melee weapon attack: +2 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d6+4 (8) bludgeoningSlam Melee weapon attack: +4 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d8+6 (10) bludgeoningSlam Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target.Slam Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target.ValueSlam Melee weapon attack: +2 to hit, reach 1d8+6 (10) bludgeoningSlam Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target.Slam Melee weapon attack: +6 to hit, reach 10 ft., one target.					
Standard ActionsSlam Melee weapon attack: +2 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d6+4 (8) bludgeoningSlam Melee weapon attack: +4 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d8+6 (10) bludgeoningSlam Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target.Slam Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target.Slam Melee weapon attack: +2 to hit, reach 1d8+6 (10) bludgeoningSlam Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target.Slam Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target.Slam Melee weapon attack: +6 to hit, reach 10 ft., one target.)ualities			resent. A minine gains a adv	antage on checks when
Actionsattack: +2 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hitattack: +4 to hit, reach reach 5 ft., one target. Hitattack: +5 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target.attack: +6 to hit, reach 10 ft., one target.1d6+4 (8) bludgeoning1d8+6 (10) bludgeoningHit 2d6+10 (17)Hit 3d6+13 (24)	tandard			Slam Melee weapon	Slam Melee weapon
5 ft., one target. Hit5 ft., one target. Hitreach 5 ft., one target.10 ft., one target.1d6+4 (8) bludgeoning1d8+6 (10) bludgeoningHit 2d6+10 (17)Hit 3d6+13 (24)					attack: +6 to hit, reach
		5 ft., one target. Hit	5 ft., one target. Hit	reach 5 ft., one target.	10 ft., one target.
		uamage.	damage.	bludgeoning damage.	bludgeoning damage.

Gelatinous Cube

OEL	AI.			SC	JUBE						
		[× Low	/	🔀 Modera	te 🔀	Advanced	× Elite			
O Terrain					Any	Undergrour	nd				
Q Rarity						Rare					
🔁 Role					Lu	rker / Norma	al				
Organizat	tion		Solitary								
関 Treasure			Incidental								
	[⊠ Lo	W		Moderate	🖂 Ad	vanced	🗵 Elite			
Armor Class Hit Points	11 (natural armor) 5 5		11 (natura 105	l armor)	13 (natural an 174	rmor)	13 (natural armor) 263				
Speed	15 ft			105		174		205			
Size, Type, Alignment	_	oze, una	aligned	Large oo	ze, unaligned	Large ooze, unaligned		Huge ooze, unaligned			
Ability Scores / Saves	STR DEX CON INT WIS CHA	20 10 1	(-1) (-5) (+5) (+0) (-5) (-5)	STR DEX CON INT WIS CHA	9 (-1) 1 (-5) 20 (+5) 10 (+0) 1 (-5) 1 (-5)	DEX 2 CON 2 INT 2 WIS 2	14 (+2) 3 (-4) 22 (+6) 10 (+0) 3 (-4) 3 (-4)	STR 18 (+4) DEX 1 (-5) CON 24 (+7) INT 10 (+0) WIS 3 (-4) CHA 3 (-4)			
Saving Throws	-			·				-			
Resistances Immunities			l Hits, Electricity, Flanking, psychic, paralyzed, poisoned, Polymorph, unconscious, Attacks, stunned								
Vulnerabilities Senses		Percept ght 60 ft	tion +5, t.		Passive Perception +5, Blindsight 60 ft.		ception +6, 50 ft.	Passive Perception +6, Blindsight 60 ft.			
Languages Challenge	- 4			8		12	000000	16			
Special Abilities & Qualities				Damage T		Damage 2d4 hage when it cau		Damage 2d6 gelatinous cube's acid does			

and the second	🖂 Low	🗵 Moderate	🔀 Advanced	🔀 Elite						
Special Abilities & Qualities	than itself in its path as a star cube merely has to move ove opportunity against the cube, attacks of opportunity can att (opponent's choice) as the cu	ndard action. It cannot make a s r the opponents, affecting as m , but if they do so they are not e cempt a Dexterity save to avoid ube moves forward. Engulfed cr	Saving Throw Saving Throw Dexterity DC 20 Dexterity DC 22 nply engulf any creatures at least one size category smaller a slam attack during a round in which it engulfs. The gelating many as it can cover. Opponents can make attacks of t entitled to a saving throw. Those who do not attempt id being engulfed-on a success, they are pushed back or asi creatures are subject to the cube's paralysis and acid, gain upped within its body until they are no longer pinned.							
Special Abilities & Qualities		Saving Throw Constitution DC 18 ecretes an anesthetizing slime paralyzed for 3d6 rounds. The c								
Special Abilities & Qualities	Transparent Due to its lack of coloration, a gelatinous cube is difficult to discern. A DC 15 Perception check is required to notice a motionless gelatinous cube. Any creature that fails to notice a gelatinous cube and walks into it is automatically engulfed.									
Standard Actions	Slam Melee weapon attack: -2 to hit, reach 10 ft., one target. Hit 1d6 (6) bludgeoning damage.	Slam Melee weapon attack: -3 to hit, reach 10 ft., one target. Hit 1d6 (6) bludgeoning damage.	Slam Melee weapon attack: +1 to hit, reach 10 ft., one target. Hit 1d6+3 (6) bludgeoning damage.	Slam Melee weapon attack: +4 to hit, reach 15 ft., one target. Hit 1d8+5 (10) bludgeoning damage.						
Legendary Actions										
Innate Spellcasting Spellcasting Possessions										

BLACK PUDDING



		🗵 Low 🛛 🖂 Moderate						Adv	vanced	[× Elite	e
O Terrain					ŀ	ny Und	ergroi	und				
Q Rarity						Unco	mmor	I				
🔁 Role						Lurker /	Norn	nal				
🖸 Organiza	tion					Soli	itary					
						No	one					
		⊠ Low	,	×N	loderat	e (×A	dvar	nced	×	Elite	
Armor Class	11	12				1			376	12		1919
Armor Class	(natura	al armor)	(n	atural a	armor)	(n	atural	armo	r)	(natural	armor)	
Hit Points	55		٦	04		٦	80			264		
Speed	20 ft	. Climb	20 ft.,	Suct	ion						1	1
Size,Type, Alignment	Large o	oze, unalig	ned Hu	ige ooze	e, unaligned	Hu	Huge ooze, unaligned		Gargantuan ooze, unaligned			
	STR	10 ((+0) S	TR	14 (+2	.) S	IR	18	(+4)	STR	20 (-	+5)
Ability	DEX		and the second second	EX	1 (-5		EX	3	(-4)	DEX		-5)
Ability Scores /	CON			ON	18 (+4		ON	20	(+5)	CON	22 (-	
Saves	INT	10 (IT	10 (+0		IT		(+0)	INT	10 (
	WIS			/IS	1 (-5		/IS	3	(-4)	WIS		-4)
Coving	CHA	1. ((-5) C	HA	1 (-5) (HA	3	(-4)	CHA	3 (·	-4)
Saving Throws	-		-			-				-		
Resistances	- 10											
Immunities		al Hits, Flanking, psychic, paralyzed, poisoned, Polymorph, unconscious, Sneak ks, stunned										
Vulnerabilities	2.0											
Senses		Perceptior ght 60 ft.		ssive Pe ndsight	erception + 60 ft.		ssive P ndsigh	•	on +6,	Passive P Blindsigh	erception t 60 ft.	1 +6,
Languages Challenge	6	10 14 18										
	Saving Th	row		ving Throw	v		-	W		Saving Thro	W	
Special Abilities &	Dexterity	DC 16	De	xterity DO	C 18	Dex	Saving Throw Dexterity DC 20			Dexterity D	DC 22	
Qualities	Acid A bl		Aci secretes a diges	d Damage			d Damag	-	lickly but d	Acid Dama		time a
	creature s	suffers damag	ge from a black	pudding's	acid, its cloth	ing and arm	or take t	he same	amount of o	damage from	the acid. A [Dexterity

creature suffers damage from a black pudding's acid, its clothing and armor take the same amount of damage from the acid. A Dexterity save prevents damage to clothing and armor. A metal or wooden weapon that strikes a black pudding takes acid damage unless the weapon's wielder succeeds on a Dexterity save. If a black pudding remains in contact with a wooden or metal object for 1 full round, it inflicts 21 points of acid damage (no save) to the object.

	🖂 Low	🖂 Moderate	🗵 Advanced	× Elite
Special Abilities & Qualities		Damage 2d6 nent, dealing bludgeoning damage, neck, including additional damage).	Damage 3d6 when you make a successful grap	Damage 4d6 ole check (in addition to any other
Special Abilities & Qualities	with half of the original's current reduced to 0 hit points. Suction The black pudding can c ease. A black pudding can establ	ons deal no damage to a black pudd hit points (round down). A pudding reate powerful suction against any s ish or release suction as a swift acti pts to shift a black pudding from its	g with 10 hit points or less cannot surface as it climbs, allowing it to o on, and as long as it is using suctio	be further split and dies if ling to inverted surfaces with on, it moves at half speed.
Standard Actions	Slam Melee weapon attack: +0 to hit, reach 10 ft., one target. Hit 1d6+1 (4) bludgeoning damage.	Slam Melee weapon attack: +3 to hit, reach 15 ft., one target. Hit 1d8+4 (8) bludgeoning damage.	Slam Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 15 ft., one target. Hit 1d8+7 (12) bludgeoning damage.	Slam Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 20 ft., one target. Hit 2d6+10 (17) bludgeoning damage.
Legendary Actions Innate Spellcasting Spellcasting Possessions				

WRAITH



WRA		H					\mathbf{Y}		
		🔀 Lov	w	🔀 Modera	te 🔀	Advanced		× Elite	
O Terrain			Any						
Q Rarity			Rare						
🖸 Role			Lurker / Elite						
Organization	tion	Solitary, Pair, Gang (3-6x), or Pack (7-12x)							
Treasure				None					
	[🗵 Low	\mathbf{X}	Moderate	×	Advanced	×	Elite	
Armor Class	16 (natura	al armor)	16 (natura	l armor)	18 (natura	l armor)	18 (natural	armor)	
Hit Points	48		90		145		195		
Speed	Fly 6	0 ft. (Good	d)	La Arro					
Size, Type, Alignment	Mediun evil	n undead, lawful	Medium evil	undead, lawful	Medium evil	undead, lawful	Medium ı evil	undead, lawful	
	STR	10 (+0)		10 (+0)	STR	10 (+0)	STR	10 (+0)	
Ability	DEX			14 (+2)	DEX CON	17 (+3)	DEX CON	18 (+4)	
Scores /	INT	1 10 (+0) 12 (+1)		10 (+0) 12 (+1)	INT	10 (+0) 16 (+3)	INT	10 (+0) 16 (+3)	
Saves	WIS	12 (+1)	WIS	12 (+1)	WIS	16 (+3)	WIS	16 (+3)	
	CHA	18 (+4)	CHA	18 (+4)	CHA	20 (+5)	CHA	20 (+5)	
Saving Throws	-				-		-		
Resistances									
Immunities		ed, exhaustior	-						
Vulnerabilities		ht Powerlessn Perception +11,		Perception +15,		Perception +18,		erception +19,	
Senses	Darkvis	ion 60 ft.		on 60 ft.	Darkvisi	•	Darkvisio		
Languages Challenge	5	non, Infernal	9		13		17		
Special	Channe	Resistance You	are less eas		rics or pala		vantange or	saves made to	
Abilities & Qualities		he effects of char se A wraith notic						he blindsight	
Special	Saving		Saving T		Saving T		Saving Th		
Abilities & Qualities	Constit points o	ution DC 17 u tion Drain Creat of Constitution d e suffered to this	tures hit by a rain. On eac	h successful atta	ittack must ck, the wrai	th gains 5 tempo	nstitution s rary hit poir	nts. Ability	
	The second second			The second second second		A DESCRIPTION OF A DESC	A DESCRIPTION OF THE OWNER	and the state of the state	

	🖂 Low	🗵 Moderate	🖂 Advanced	🔀 Elite			
Special Abilities & Qualities	Create Spawn A humanoid slain by a wraith becomes a wraith in 1d4 rounds. These spawn are less powerful than typical wraiths, and suffer a disadvantage on all d20 rolls and checks, receive -2 hp per HD, and only drain 1d2 points of Constitution on a touch. Spawn are under the command of the wraith that created them until its death, at which point they lose their spawn penalties and become free-willed wraiths. They do not possess any of the abilities they had in life.						
Special Abilities & Qualities	weapons or creatures that You have no physical body creatures that strike as ma immune to all nonmagical damage from a corporeal can affect incorporeal und	hysical body. You can be han strike as magic weapons, an y. You can be harmed only by agic weapons, and spells, spe attack forms. Even when hit source except for channel en lead. Corporeal spells and effor orce spells and effects, such	d spells, spell-like abilities, other incorporeal creatures II-like abilities, or supernatu by spells or magic weapon ergy. Although it is not a m ects that do not cause dam	or supernatural abilities. s, magic weapons or ral abilities. You are s, you take only half agical attack, holy water age only have a 50%			
Standard Actions	Incorporeal Touch Melee weapon attack: +0 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d6 (6) bludgeoning damage.	Incorporeal Touch Melee weapon attack: +0 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d8 (8) bludgeoning damage.	Incorporeal Touch Melee weapon attack: +0 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d8 (8) bludgeoning damage.	Incorporeal Touch Melee weapon attack: +0 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d8 (8) bludgeoning damage.			
Special Actions	Unnatural Aura Animals do Handle Animal, Ride, or w	o not willingly approach with ild empathy check.	in 30 feet of a wraith, unles	s a master makes a DC 25			
Legendary Actions	-						
Innate Spellcasting			Sec. 1				
Spellcasting	-						
Possessions							
Spellcasting Spellcasting							

OWLBEAR XIOW × Moderate

		🔀 Low	Moderat	e 🛛 🔀 Advanced	🔀 Elite		
• Terrain			Temp	oerate Forests			
Q Rarity			U	ncommon			
🔁 Role			Bru	te / Normal			
🖸 Organiza	tion	Solitary, Pair, or Pack (3-8x)					
			I	ncidental			
		⊠ Low	⊠ Moderate	🗵 Advanced	ed 🛛 🔀 Elite		
Armor Class	15	Stelles.	15	16	17		
LUX Defets		al armor)	(natural armor)	(natural armor)	(natural armor)		
Hit Points	42		92	160	251		
Speed	30 f		NEW STR	100000000000000000000000000000000000000			
Size, Type, Alignment	Large n unalign	nonstrosity, ed	Large monstrosity, unaligned	Large monstrosity, unaligned	Huge monstrosity, unaligned		
	STR	17 (+3)	STR 17 (+3)	STR 19 (+4)	STR 21 (+5)		
	DEX	10 (+0)	DEX 10 (+0)	DEX 14 (+2)	DEX 12 (+1)		
Ability Scores /	CON	1 16 (+3)	CON 16 (+3)	CON 18 (+4)	CON 21 (+5)		
Saves	INT	1 (-5)	INT 1 (-5)	INT 1 (-5)	INT 1 (-5)		
	WIS	10 (+0)	WIS 10 (+0)	WIS 14 (+2)	WIS 14 (+2)		
100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100	CHA	8 (-1)	CHA 8 (-1)	CHA 12 (+1)	CHA 12 (+1)		
Saving Throws	-			Contract The Dates of the			
Resistances Immunities	-						
Vulnerabilities			1000				
Senses		Perception +13, sion 60 ft.	Passive Perception +14, Darkvision 60 ft.	Passive Perception +17, Darkvision 60 ft.	Passive Perception +18, Darkvision 60 ft.		
Languages	-						
Challenge	5		9	13	17		
Standard Actions	attack: 10 ft., o 1d6+4 damago Claw M attack: 10 ft., o	elee weapon +5 to hit, reach one target. Hit (8) slashing	Bite Melee weapon attack: +4 to hit, reach 10 ft., one target. Hit 1d8+5 (10) piercing damage. Claw Melee weapon attack: +4 to hit, reach 10 ft., one target. Hit 1d8+5 (10) slashing damage.	10 ft., one target. Hit 1d8+7 (12) piercing damage.	Bite Melee weapon attack: +6 to hit, reach 10 ft., one target. Hit 2d6+9 (16) piercing damage. Claw Melee weapon attack: +6 to hit, reach 10 ft., one target. Hit 2d6+9 (16) slashing damage.		



GIANT (STONE)

GIAN	١T	(S	ТС	NE)				M	
		×	< Low		🔀 Mode	rate	× Ac	dvanced		 ✓ Elite
O Terrain					Ten	nperate	Mountair	IS		
Q Rarity						Ra	are			
🖸 Role						Brute	/ Elite			
😳 Organizat	tion	S	olitary, C	Gang (2-5)	x), Band (4-8	8x), Hun	ting Party	(9-12x+),	or Tribe (1	3-30x+)
Treasure						Stan	dard			
1000	>	× Lov	N	\mathbf{X}	Aoderate	e (× Adva	anced	×	Elite
Arman Class	17			18		1			19	
Armor Class	(natura	al armor)	(natural	armor)	(n	atural arm	or)	(natural	armor)
Hit Points	51			101		1	50		213	
Speed	40 ft		Ger 1	(in the second	La her		1100		1	
Size,Type, Alignment	Medium unaligne	n humano ed	oid,	Large hui unaligned			rge humano aligned	id,	Huge hun unaligned	nanoid,
	STR	18	(+4)	STR	20 (+5) 5	FR 22	. (+6)	STR	25 (+7)
A L : 1:	DEX		(+3)	DEX	13 (+1	the second second		(+3)	DEX	15 (+2)
Ability Scores /	CON		(+1)	CON	17 (+3	-	1 m 1 m 1 m 1 m 1 m 1 m 1 m 1 m 1 m 1 m	6 (+4)	CON	20 (+5)
Saves	INT	1.0	(-1)	INT	8 (-1)			(+1)	INT	12 (+1)
	WIS		(+0)	WIS	10 (+0	-		+ (+2)	WIS	14 (+2)
Saving	CHA	8	(-1)	CHA	8 (-1)		HA 12	. (+1)	CHA	12 (+1)
Throws	-			-		-			-	
Resistances	- 63				14-75					
Immunities	-									
Vulnerabilities Senses		Perceptio			erception +1		ssive Percep			erception +18,
Languages		on 60 ft. on, Giai		Darkvisic	n 60 ft.	Da	rkvision 60	π.	Darkvisio	1 60 ft.
Challenge	8	, c.u.		12		1	5		18	
Special Abilities & Qualities	Improved Rock Catching You gain advantage on your Dexterity save when attempting to catch a thrown rock. You can catch rocks of at least one size category smaller than yourself (or projectiles of similar shape). Once per round, if you would normally be hit by a rock, you can make a Dexterity save to catch it as a free action. The DC is 15 for a Small rock, 20 for a Medium one, and 25 for a Large one. (If the projectile provides a magical bonus on attack rolls, the DC increases by that amount.) You must be aware of the attack in order to make a rock catching attempt.									
Special Abilities & Qualities	can hurl object m	rocks up to ade of any	o two cate / material v	egories smal with a hardn	rock thrower a ler than its size ess of at least twice your base	e. A "rock' 5. The cre	' is any large, ature can hur	bulky, and re I the rock up	elatively regul to five range	

	🖂 Low	🔀 Moderate	➢ Advanced	× Elite
Standard Actions	Greatclub Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d10+9 (14) bludgeoning damage. Slam Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d6+9 (12) bludgeoning damage.	Greatclub Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 10 ft., one target. Hit 2d8+12 (21) bludgeoning damage. Rock Ranged weapon attack: +0 to hit, one target. Hit 1d8+12 (16) bludgeoning damage. Slam Melee weapon	 Advanced Greatclub Melee weapon attack: +6 to hit, reach 10 ft., one target. Hit 2d8+15 (24) bludgeoning damage. Rock Ranged weapon attack: +3 to hit, one target. Hit 1d8+15 (20) bludgeoning damage. Slam Melee weapon 	Greatclub Melee weapon attack: +7 to hit, reach 15 ft., one target. Hit 2d8+13 (22) bludgeoning damage. Rock Ranged weapon attack: +2 to hit, one target. Hit 1d8+19 (24) bludgeoning damage. Slam Melee weapon
	Rock Ranged weapon attack: +3 to hit, one target. Hit 1d8+9 (14) bludgeoning damage.	attack: +5 to hit, reach 10 ft., one target. Hit 1d8+8 (12) bludgeoning damage.	attack: +6 to hit, reach 10 ft., one target. Hit 2d6+10 (17) bludgeoning damage.	attack: +7 to hit, reach 15 ft., one target. Hit 3d6+13 (24) bludgeoning damage.
Legendary Actions				
Innate Spellcasting Spellcasting				
Possessions	Greatclub	Section Col		

PUR	PL]	E	Wo	RM	[Ŷ	
		[× Low		×N	Iodera	te	\mathbf{X}	Adva	anced		× El	ite
P Terrain			Any Underground										
Rarity						ι	Jncom	imon					
🔁 Role						E	Brute /	Elite					
Organizat	tion						Solita	ary					
Treasure					Incidental								
and the second	[× Lo	W	\times	Mode	erate	×	Ad	van	ced	×	< Eli	te
Armor Class	19 (natura	al armo	or)	19 (natura	l armo	r)	19 (nat	ural a	rmor)		19 (natura	l armo	r)
Hit Points	94			128		,	20		,		334		,
Speed	20 ft	t. Bur	row 20) ft. Sw	vim 1	O ft.							
Size,Type, Alignment	Huge n unalign	nonstros ed	sity,	Huge mo unaligne		ty,		gantuan igned	mons	trosity,	Gargantı unaligne		nstrosity,
	STR		(+5)	STR	20	(+5)	ST		24 ((+7)	STR		(+9)
Ability	DEX		(-1)	DEX	8	(-1)	DE			(-3)	DEX	6	(-2)
Scores /	CON	1 18 1	(+4) (-5)	CON	18 1	(+4)				(+5)	CON	24	(+7)
Saves	WIS	6	(-2)	WIS	6	(-2)	WI			(-5) (-2)	WIS	10	(+0)
	CHA		(-2)	CHA	6	(-2)	CH	and the second second	100	(-2)	CHA		(+0)
Saving Throws	-						-						
Resistances Immunities													
Vulnerabilities	5.00												
Senses	+8, Dar	Percept kvision sense 60	60 ft.,	Passive F +12, Dar Tremorse	kvision	60 ft.,	+13,	ive Per , Darkvi norsens	ision 6	50 ft.,	Passive F +13, Dar Tremors	kvision	60 ft.,
Languages	-			10			10				20		
Challenge	8	71		12			16				20		
Special Abilities &		ution DO		Saving T Constitu	tion DC		Cons	ng Thro stitutio	n DC 2		Saving T Constitu	tion DC	
Qualities			njury; save saves. Abili										ge; cure
Special Abilities &	Saving Damage	Throw [a 2d6	DC 17	Saving T Damage		C 18		ng Thro nage 6d		20	Saving T Damage		C 23
Qualities	Swallow you. If t cover a at a tim	v Whole the Attac gainst at ie. If the	The creatu ck hits, the ttacks and o e creature o feet of Mo	target is s target effective other Effectives dies, a swa	one bite wallowe ts outs llowed	ed. The sv ide the c creature	igainst a vallowee reature.	a target d target The cre	at leas t is Blin eature	nded and can hav	ze categor d Restraine e only one	y smalle ed, it ha target s	s total swallowed

	🗵 Low	🗵 Moderate	🔀 Advanced	🔀 Elite
Standard Actions	Bite Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach	Bite Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach	Bite Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach	Bite Melee weapon attack: +8 to hit, reach
Actions	15 ft., one target. Hit 4d6+12 (26) piercing	15 ft., one target. Hit 4d6+12/19-00 (26)	20 ft., one target. Hit 4d8+12/19-00 (30)	30 ft., one target. Hit 12d6+17/19-00 (59)
	damage. Sting Melee weapon	piercing damage. Sting Melee weapon	piercing damage. Sting Melee weapon	piercing damage. Sting Melee weapon
	attack: +5 to hit, reach 15 ft., one target. Hit	attack: +5 to hit, reach 15 ft., one target. Hit	attack: +5 to hit, reach 20 ft., one target. Hit	attack: +8 to hit, reach 30 ft., one target. Hit
	2d6+12 (19) piercing damage.	2d6+12 (19) piercing damage.	2d8+12 (21) piercing damage.	4d8+17 (35) piercing damage.
	La contra de la co		And the state of t	



Rus	гΙ	Mons	STER	R				
		🔀 Low			e 🗵	Advanced		× Elite
O Terrain			Any Underground					
Rarity			Uncommon					
			Skirmisher / Normal					
Organizat	tion			Solitary, Pa	air, or Nes	st (3-10x)		
					ncidental			
The fire as the second								
-		≚ Low		oderate		dvanced		Elite
Armor Class	16 (natur	al armor)	16 (natural a	rmor)	18 (natural	armor)	18 (natural	armor)
Hit Points	26		48		96		163	
Speed	1000	t. Climb 10	Climb 10 ft.					
Size, Type,		n aberration,	Medium ab	erration,	Medium aberration,		Large abe	rration,
Alignment	unalign		unaligned		unaligned		unaligned	
	STR	8 (-1)		9 (-1)	STR	14 (+2)	STR	18 (+4)
Ability	DEX			15 (+2)	DEX	18 (+4)	DEX CON	17 (+3)
Scores /	INT	1 11 (+0) 1 (-5)		11 (+0) 1 (-5)	CON	15 (+2) 1 (-5)	INT	18 (+4) 1 (-5)
Saves	WIS	11 (+0)		11 (+0)	WIS	15 (+2)	WIS	15 (+2)
	CHA			5 (-2)	CHA	10 (+0)	CHA	10 (+0)
Saving Throws	-				·		•	
Resistances	-							
Immunities Vulnerabilities	-			-				
Senses		Perception +13,		ception +14,	Passive P	erception +17,		erception +18,
	Darkvis	ion 60 ft.	Darkvision	60 ft.	Darkvisio	n 60 ft.	Darkvisio	n 60 ft.
Languages Challenge	5		9		13		17	
Special	Saving		Saving Thro		Saving Th		Saving Th	
Abilities &		ty DC 13 Damage 2d6	Dexterity D Metal Dama			Dexterity DC 17 Metal Damage 6d6		DC 20 mage 8d6
Qualities	Rust A	rust monster's ant	ennae are a pr	rimary touch at	tack that ca	uses any metal o	bject they	touch to swiftly
	rust and	Rust A rust monster's antennae are a primary touch attack that causes any metal object they touch to swiftly rust and corrode. The object touched takes half its maximum hp in damage and gains the broken condition;						

rust and corrode. The object touched takes half its maximum hp in damage and gains the broken condition; a second hit destroys the item. A rust monster never provokes attacks of opportunity by attempting to strike a weapon with its antennae. Against creatures made of metal, a rust monster's antennae deal bludgeoning damage. An attended object, any magic object, or a metal creature can attempt a Dexterity save to negate this effect.

MININ



	Y							
		🔀 Low	1	⊠ Moderat	e 🔀	Advanced	× Elite	
P Terrain					Any			
Q Rarity					Rare			
🔁 Role				Lu	urker / Elit	e		
🖸 Organizat	tion	S	Solitary, Warden Squad (2-6x), or Guardian Detail (7-12x)					
			Standard					
1.1	[⊠ Low	\mathbf{X}	Moderate	×	dvanced	🔀 Elite	
Armor Class	17 (natura	al armor)	17 (natura	al armor)	18 (natural	armor)	18 (natural armor)	
Hit Points	59	,	87	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	155	,	196	
Speed	20 ft							
Size, Type, Alignment	Mediun evil	n undead, lawful	Mediun evil			undead, lawful	Large undead, lawful evil	
	STR DEX	19 (+4) 8 (-1)	STR DEX	20 (+5) 8 (-1)	STR DEX	22 (+6) 12 (+1)	STR 24 (+7) DEX 10 (+0)	
Ability	CON		CON		CON	12 (+1)	CON 10 (+0)	

	DLA	0 (-1)	DLA	0 (-1)	DLA	14 (11)	DLA	
Ability	CON	10 (+0)						
Scores / Saves	INT	4 (-3)	INT	4 (-3)	INT	8 (-1)	INT	8 (-1)
	WIS	13 (+1)	WIS	13 (+1)	WIS	17 (+3)	WIS	17 (+3)
	CHA	13 (+1)	CHA	13 (+1)	CHA	17 (+3)	CHA	17 (+3)
Saving								

Resistances	all physical attacks

Throws

diseased, exhaustion, fatigued, psychic, paralyzed, poisoned, unconscious, stunned **Immunities** Vulnerability to Fire You take half again as much (+50%) damage as normal from Fire, **Vulnerabilities** regardless of whether a saving throw is allowed, or if the save is a success or failure Passive Perception +18 Passive Perception +19 Passive Perception +14. Passive Perception +15.

Senses	Darkvision 60 ft.	Darkvision 60 ft.	Darkvision 60 ft.	Darkvision 60 ft.					
Languages	Common	Sector Sector							
Challenge	8	12	16	20					
Special Abilities &	Saving Throw Wisdom DC 14	Saving Throw Wisdom DC 15	Saving Throw Wisdom DC 18	Saving Throw Wisdom DC 19					
Qualities	Despair Aura All creatures within a 30-foot radius that see you must make a Wisdom save or be paralyzed								

by fear for 1d4 rounds. Whether or not the save is successful, that creature cannot be affected again by the same mummy's despair ability for 24 hours. This is a paralysis and a mind-affecting fear affect.

and the	🔀 Low	🗵 Moderate	🗵 Advanced	🔀 Elite	
Special Abilities &	Saving Throw Constitution DC 14	Saving Throw Constitution DC 15 sease. Afflited creatures mu	Saving Throw Constitution DC 18	Saving Throw Constitution DC 19	
Qualities	Constitution and Charism healing for the disease. M removed, at which point t rot is lifted, a creature suf (healing) spell on the affli	a damage. To remove, target Jummy rot is both a curse an the disease can be magically fering from it cannot recover cted creature must succeed fect. Anyone who dies from	remove curse and magical cured if the curse is first rse element of mummy ne casting a conjuration rck, or the spell is wasted		
Standard Actions	Slam Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d8+10 (14) bludgeoning damage.	Slam Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 2d6+10 (17) bludgeoning damage.	Slam Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 2d6+15 (22) bludgeoning damage.	Slam Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 10 ft., one target. Hit 3d6+18 (28) bludgeoning damage.	
Legendary Actions	-				
Innate Spellcasting					
Spellcasting Possessions					

ELEMENTAL (EARIH, MEDIUM)



		🔀 Low				🔀 Moderate 🛛 🔀 A			Adv	/anced		×Е	lite	
Q Terrain						Any (Plane of Earth)								
Q Rarity		Rare												
Role						Brute / Normal								
🖸 Organiza	tion		Solitary, Pair, or Gang (3-8x)											
						None								
1	(\mathbf{X}	Low		➢ Moderate			×	⊠ Advanced			× Elite		
Armor Class Hit Points	16 (natur 28	ural armor)			16 (natural armor) 63			17 (nat 98	17 (natural armor)			17 (natura 139	l armc	or)
Speed	Constant of the local division of the local	B	urro	w 20	ft., Earth Glide									
Size,Type, Alignment		um elemental,			Medium unaligne	ı eleme	-	Medium elemental, unaligned			tal,	Medium elemental, unaligned		
Ability Scores / Saves	STR DEX CON INT WIS CHA		15 (- 2 (- 9 (-	+3) -2) +2) -4) -1)	STR DEX CON INT WIS CHA	6	(+3) (-2) (+3) (-4) (-1) (-1)	STI DE CC IN WI CH	X DN T S	10 18 6 13	(+4) (+0) (+4) (-2) (+1) (+1)	STR DEX CON INT WIS CHA		(-2) (+1)
Saving Throws												•		
Resistances Immunities Vulnerabilities			al attac its, Fla		paralyz	ed, po	isoned,	uncons	sciou	s, Sne	eak Atta	icks, stur	ned	
Senses	Passive +9, Dar Tremor	kvisi		ft.,	Passive +9, Darl Tremors	vision	60 ft.,	+15,	Dark	ercepti vision 1se 60	60 ft.,	Passive +16, Da Tremors	rkvisior	n 60 ft.,
Languages Challenge	Terran				0			10				14		
Special Abilities & Qualities	easily as behind r containi	a fisl no tur ng a l	h swims nnel or h	through nole, nor ng earth	does it cro elemental	orotecte eate any	d against f ripple or c	re damag ther sign	rt, or a ge, it ca of its	an ever presen	n glide thro	14 sort of earth ough lava. It re Earth spe eature for 1	s burrov Il cast or	ving leaves n an area
Special Abilities & Qualities	ground.	Mastery An earth elemental gains advantage on attack and damage rolls if both it and its foe are touching the nd. If an opponent is airborne or waterborne, the elemental suffers disadvantage on attack and damage rolls. These fiers apply to all combat actions.												

	🔀 Low	🗵 Moderate	🗵 Advanced	🔀 Elite
Standard Actions	Slam Melee weapon attack: +4 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d8+7 (12) bludgeoning damage.	Slam Melee weapon attack: +3 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 2d6+7 (14) bludgeoning damage.	Slam Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 2d6+10 (17) bludgeoning damage.	Slam Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 2d6+10 (17) bludgeoning damage.
Legendary Actions				
Innate Spellcasting				
Spellcasting				
Possessions				

DRAGON (RED, YOUNG)



only against opponents three or more size categories smaller than the dragon. A crush attack affects as many creatures as fit in the dragon's space. Creatures in the affected area must succeed on a Dexterity save or be pinned, automatically taking bludgeoning damage during the next round unless the dragon moves off them. If the dragon chooses to maintain the pin, it must succeed at a grapple check. Pinned foes take damage from the crush each round if they don't escape.

	🖂 Low	🗵 Moderate	☑ Advanced	× Elite						
Special Abilities & Qualities	Damage 1d4 Fire Aura A red dragon is surroun dragon's turn.	Damage 1d6 ded by an aura of intense heat. All c	Damage 2d4 reatures within 10 feet take fire d	Damage 2d6 amage at the beginning of the						
Special Abilities & Qualities	Save Wisdom 12 Save Wisdom 17 Save Wisdom 20 Save Wisdom 22 Frightful Presence Your very presence unsettling to foes. Activating this ability is a free action that is usually part of an attack or charge. Opponents within range who witness the action may become frightened or shaken. The range is 40 feet. This ability affects only opponents with fewer Hit Dice or levels than the creature has. An affected opponent can resist the effects with a successful Wisdom save. On a failed save, the opponent is shaken, or panicked if 4 HD or fewer. An opponent that succeeds on the saving throw is immune to your frightful presence for 24 hours. Frightful presence is a mind-affecting fear effect. Save Wisdom 20									
Standard Actions	Bite Melee weapon attack: +0 to hit, reach 0 ft., one target. Hit 1d4+1 (4) piercing damage. Claws Melee weapon attack: +0 to hit, reach 0 ft., one target. Hit 1d3+1 (3) slashing damage.	 Bite Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 2d6+10 (17) piercing damage. Claws Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d8+7 (12) slashing damage. Wings Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d6+3 (6) bludgeoning damage. Tail Slap Melee weapon attack: +5 to hit, reach 5 ft., one target. Hit 1d8+10 (14) bludgeoning damage. ee perfectly in smoky conditions (s 	Bite Melee weapon attack: +6 to hit, reach 10 ft., one target. Hit 3d8+16 (30) piercing damage. Claws Melee weapon attack: +6 to hit, reach 10 ft., one target. Hit 3d6+11 (22) slashing damage. Wings Melee weapon attack: +6 to hit, reach 10 ft., one target. Hit 1d8+5 (10) bludgeoning damage. Tail Slap Melee weapon attack: +6 to hit, reach 10 ft., one target. Hit 2d6+16 (23) bludgeoning damage.	 Bite Melee weapon attack: +7 to hit, reach 15 ft., one target. Hit 4d8+24 (42) piercing damage. Claws Melee weapon attack: +7 to hit, reach 15 ft., one target. Hit 4d6+16 (30) slashing damage. Wings Melee weapon attack: +7 to hit, reach 15 ft., one target. Hit 2d6+8 (15) bludgeoning damage. Tail Slap Melee weapon attack: +7 to hit, reach 15 ft., one target. Hit 3d6+24 (34) bludgeoning damage. hits). 						
Actions										
Special Actions	Save Dexterity 12; Dmg 2d4Save Dexterity 17; Dmg 3d4Save Dexterity 20; Dmg 4d4Save Dexterity 22; Dmg 5d4Tail Sweep A dragon of substantial size may sweep with its tail as a standard action. The sweep affects a half-circle with a radius of 30feet, extending from an intersection on the edge of the dragon's space in any direction. Creatures within the swept area are affectedif they are four or more size categories smaller than the dragon. A tail sweep automatically deals bludgeoning damage to affectedcreatures, each of which may attempt a Dexterity save to halve the damage they receive.									
Special Actions	Vulnerability to Cold You take hal or if the save is a success or failu	f again as much (+50%) damage as re.	normal from Cold, regardless of v	whether a saving throw is allowed,						
Legendary Actions	•									
Innate Spellcasting	detect magic (at will); pyrc	otechnics (at will); suggestio	n (at will)							
Spellcasting	Sorcerer (CL 8th) link; sleep; dispel magic; a	Sorcerer (CL 10th) cid arrow; continual flame; c	Sorcerer (CL 12th) larkness; flaming sphere; m	Sorcerer (CL 14th) age armor; magic missile;						

link; sleep; dispel magic; acid arrow; continual flame; darkness; flaming sphere; mage armor; magic missile; shield; true strike; dancing lights; light; mage hand; message; prestidigitation



Illustration 8: Red Dragon

Open Gaming License (OGL)

Product Identity: The following items are hereby identified as Product Identity, as defined in the Open Game License 1.0a, Section 1(e), and are not Open Content: All trademarks, registered trademarks, proper names (characters, deities, etc.), dialogue, plots, storylines, locations, characters, artworks, and trade dress. (Elements that have previously been designated as Open Game Content are not included in this declaration.)

Open Content: Except for material designated as Product Identity (see above), the game mechanics of this Paizo Publishing game product are Open Game Content, as defined in the Open Game License version 1.0a Section 1(d). No portion of this work other than the material designated as Open Game Content may be reproduced in any form without written permission.

OPEN GAME LICENSE Version 1.0a

The following text is the property of Wizards of the Coast, Inc. and is Copyright 2000 Wizards of the Coast, Inc ("Wizards"). All Rights Reserved.

1. Definitions: (a) "Contributors" means the copyright and/or trademark owners who have contributed Open Game Content; (b) "Derivative Material" means copyrighted material including derivative works and translations (including into other computer languages) potation, modification, correction, addition, extension, upgrade, improvement, compilation, abridgment or other form in which an existing work may be recast, transformed or adapted; (c) "Distribute" means to reproduce, license, rent, lease, sell, broadcast, publicly display, transmit or otherwise distribute; (d) "Open Game Content" means the game mechanic and includes the methods, procedures, processes and routines to the extent such content does not embody the Product Identity and is an enhancement over the prior art and any additional content clearly identified as Open Game Content by the Contributor, and means any work covered by this License, including translations and derivative works under copyright law, but specifically excludes Product Identity. (e) "Product Identity" means product and product line names, logos and identifying marks including trade dress; artifacts, creatures, characters, stories, storylines, plots, thematic elements, dialogue, incidents, language, artwork, symbols, designs, depictions, likenesses, formats, poses, concepts, themes and graphic, photographic and other visual or audio representations; names and descriptions of characters, spells, enchantments, personalities, teams, personas, likenesses and special abilities; places, locations, environments, creatures, equipment, magical or supernatural abilities or effects, logos, symbols, or graphic designs; and any other trademark or registered trademark clearly identified as Product identity by the owner of the Product Identity, and which specifically excludes the Open Game Content; (f) "Trademark" means the logos, names, mark, sign, motto, designs that are used by a Contributor to identify itself or its products or the associated products contributed to the Open Game License by the Contributor (g) "Use", "Used" or "Using" means to use, Distribute, copy, edit, format, modify, translate and otherwise create Derivative Material of Open Game Content. (h) "You" or "Your" means the licensee in terms of this agreement.

2. The License: This License applies to any Open Game Content that contains a notice indicating that the Open Game Content may only be Used under and in terms of this License. You must affix such a notice to any Open Game Content that you Use. No terms may be added to or subtracted from this License except as described by the License itself. No other terms or conditions may be applied to any Open Game Content distributed using this License.

3. Offer and Acceptance: By Using the Open Game Content You indicate Your acceptance of the terms of this License.

4. Grant and Consideration: In consideration for agreeing to use this License, the Contributors grant You a perpetual, worldwide, royalty-free, non-exclusive license with the exact terms of this License to Use, the Open Game Content.

5. Representation of Authority to Contribute: If You are contributing original material as Open Game Content, You represent that Your Contributions are Your original creation and/ or You have sufficient rights to grant the rights conveyed by this License.

6. Notice of License Copyright: You must update the COPYRIGHT NOTICE portion of this License to include the exact text of the COPYRIGHT NOTICE of any Open Game Content You are copying, modifying or distributing, and You must add the title, the copyright date, and the copyright holder's name to the COPYRIGHT NOTICE of any original Open Game Content you Distribute.

7. Use of Product Identity: You agree not to Use any Product Identity, including as an indication as to compatibility, except as expressly licensed in another, independent Agreement with the owner of each element of that Product Identity. You agree not to indicate compatibility or co-adaptability with any Trademark or Registered Trademark in conjunction with a work containing Open Game Content except as expressly licensed in another, independent Agreement with the owner of such Trademark or Registered Trademark. The use of any Product Identity in Open Game Content does not constitute a challenge to the ownership of that Product Identity. The owner of any Product Identity used in Open Game Content shall retain all rights, title and interest in and to that Product Identity.

8. Identification: If you distribute Open Game Content You must clearly indicate which portions of the work that you are distributing are Open Game Content.

9. Updating the License: Wizards or its designated Agents may publish updated versions of this License. You may use any authorized version of this License to copy, modify and distribute any Open Game Content originally distributed under any version of this License.

10. Copy of this License: You MUST include a copy of this License with every copy of the Open Game Content You distribute.

11. Use of Contributor Credits: You may not market or advertise the Open Game Content using the name of any Contributor unless You have written permission from the Contributor to do so.

12. Inability to Comply: If it is impossible for You to comply with any of the terms of this License with respect to some or all of the Open Game Content due to statute, judicial order, or governmental regulation then You may not Use any Open Game Material so affected.

13. Termination: This License will terminate automatically if You fail to comply with all terms herein and fail to cure such breach within 30 days of becoming aware of the breach. All sublicenses shall survive the termination of this License.

14. Reformation: If any provision of this License is held to be unenforceable, such provision shall be reformed only to the extent necessary to make it enforceable.

15. COPYRIGHT NOTICE

Open Game License v 1.0a Copyright 2000, Wizards of the Coast, Inc.

System Reference Document. Copyright 2000, Wizards of the Coast, Inc.; Authors Jonathan Tweet, Monte Cook, Skip Williams, based on material by E. Gary Gygax and Dave Arneson. Pathfinder Roleplaying Game Reference Document. © 2011, Paizo Publishing, LLC; Author: Paizo Publishing, LLC.

Pathfinder Roleplaying Game Core Rulebook. © 2009, Paizo Publishing, LLC; Author: Jason Bulmahn, based on material by Jonathan Tweet, Monte Cook, and Skip Williams.

Pathfinder Roleplaying Game Bestiary. © 2009, Paizo Publishing, LLC; Author: Jason Bulmahn, based on material by Jonathan Tweet, Monte Cook, and Skip Williams.

Pathfinder Roleplaying Game Bestiary 2. © 2010, Paizo Publishing, LLC; Authors Wolfgang Baur, Jason Bulmahn, Adam Daigle, Graeme Davis, Crystal Frasier, Joshua J. Frost, Tim Hitchcock, Brandon Hodge, James Jacobs, Steve Kenson, Hal MacLean, Martin Mason, Rob McCreary, Erik Mona, Jason Nelson, Patrick Renie, Sean K Reynolds, F. Wesley Schneider, Owen K.C. Stephens, James L. Sutter, Russ Taylor, and Greg A. Vaughan, based on material by Jonathan Tweet, Monte Cook, and Skip Williams.

Pathfinder Roleplaying Game Bestiary 3. © 2011, Paizo Publishing, LLC; Authors: Jesse Benner, Jason Bulmahn, Adam Daigle, James Jacobs, Michael Kenway, Rob McCreary, Patrick Renie, Chris Sims, F. Wesley Schneider, James L. Sutter, and Russ Taylor, based on material by Jonathan Tweet, Monte Cook, and Skip Williams.

Pathfinder Roleplaying Game Bestiary 4. © 2013, Paizo Publishing, LLC; Authors: Dennis Baker, Jesse Benner, Savannah Broadway, Ross Byers, Adam Daigle, Tim Hitchcock, Tracy Hurley, James Jacobs, Matt James, Rob McCreary, Jason Nelson, Tom Phillips, Stephen Radney- MacFarland, Sean K Reynolds, F. Wesley Schneider, Tork Shaw, and Russ Taylor.

Pathfinder Roleplaying Game GameMastery Guide. © 2010, Paizo Publishing, LLC; Author: Cam Banks, Wolfgang Buar, Jason Bulmahn, Jim Butler, Eric Cagle, Graeme Davis, Adam Daigle, Joshua J. Frost, James Jacobs, Kenneth Hite, Steven Kenson, Robin Laws, Tito Leati, Rob McCreary, Hal Maclean, Colin McComb, Jason Nelson, David Noonan, Richard Pett, Rich Redman, Sean K reynolds, F. Wesley Schneider, Amber Scorr, Doug Seacat, Mike Selinker, Lisa Stevens, James L. Sutter, Russ Taylor, Penny Williams, Skip Williams, Teeuwynn Woodruff.

Pathfinder Roleplaying Game Advanced Class Guide © 2014, Paizo Inc.; Authors: Dennis Baker, Ross Byers, Jesse Benner, Savannah Broadway, Jason Bulmahn, Jim Groves, Tim Hitchcock, Tracy Hurley, Jonathan H. Keith, Will McCardell, Dale C. McCoy, Jr., Tom Phillips, Stephen Radney-MacFarland, Thomas M. Reid, Sean K Reynolds, Tork Shaw, Owen K.C. Stephens, and Russ Taylor.

Pathfinder Roleplaying Game Advanced Player's Guide. © 2010, Paizo Publishing, LLC; Author: Jason Bulmahn

Pathfinder Roleplaying Game Advanced Race Guide. © 2012, Paizo Publishing, LLC; Authors: Dennis Baker, Jesse Benner, Benjamin Bruck, Jason Bulmahn, Adam Daigle, Jim Groves, Tim Hitchcock, Hal MacLean, Jason Nelson, Stephen Radney-MacFarland, Owen K.C. Stephens, Todd Stewart, and Russ Taylor.

Pathfinder Roleplaying Game Monster Codex. © 2014, Paizo Inc.; Authors: Dennis Baker, Jesse Benner, Logan Bonner, Jason Bulmahn, Ross Byers, John Compton, Robert N. Emerson, Jonathan H. Keith, Dale C. McCoy, Jr., Mark Moreland, Tom Phillips, Stephen Radney-MacFarland, Sean K Reynolds, Thomas M. Reid, Patrick Renie, Mark Seifter, Tork Shaw, Neil Spicer, Owen K.C. Stephens, and Russ Taylor.

Pathfinder Roleplaying Game Mythic Adventures © 2013, Paizo Publishing, LLC; Authors: Jason Bulmahn, Stephen Radney-MacFarland, Sean K Reynolds, Dennis Baker, Jesse Benner, Ben Bruck, Jim Groves, Tim Hitchcock, Tracy Hurley, Jonathan Keith, Jason Nelson, Tom Phillips, Ryan Macklin, F. Wesley Schneider, Amber Scott, Tork Shaw, Russ Taylor, and Ray Vallese.

Pathfinder Roleplaying Game NPC Codex. © 2012, Paizo Publishing, LLC; Authors: Jesse Benner, Jason Bulmahn, Adam Daigle, Alex Greenshields, Rob McCreary, Mark Moreland, Jason Nelson, Stephen Radney-MacFarland, Patrick Renie, Sean K Reynolds, and Russ Taylor.

Pathfinder Roleplaying Game Occult Adventures. © 2015, Paizo Inc.; Authors: John Bennett, Logan Bonner, Robert Brookes, Jason Bulmahn, Ross Byers, John Compton, Adam Daigle, Jim Groves, Thurston Hillman, Eric Hindley, Brandon Hodge, Ben McFarland, Erik Mona, Jason Nelson, Tom Phillips, Stephen Radney-MacFarland, Thomas M. Reid, Alex Riggs, Robert Schwalb, Mark Seifter, Russ Taylor, and Steve Townshend.

Pathfinder Roleplaying Game Pathfinder Unchained. © 2015, Paizo Inc.; Authors: Dennis Baker, Jesse Benner, Ross Byers, Logan Bonner, Jason Bulmahn, Robert Emerson, Tim Hitchcock, Jason Nelson, Tom Phillips, Stephen Radney-MacFarland, Thomas M. Reid, Robert Schwalb, Mark Seifter, and Russ Taylor.

Pathfinder Roleplaying Game Ultimate Magic. © 2011, Paizo Publishing, LLC; Authors: Jason Bulmahn, Tim Hitchcock, Colin McComb, Rob McCreary, Jason Nelson, Stephen Radney-MacFarland, Sean K Reynolds, Owen K.C. Stephens, and Russ Taylor.

Pathfinder Roleplaying Game Ultimate Campaign. © 2013, Paizo Publishing, LLC; Authors: Jesse Benner, Benjamin Bruck, Jason Bulmahn, Ryan Costello, Adam Daigle, Matt Goetz, Tim Hitchcock, James Jacobs, Ryan Macklin, Colin McComb, Jason Nelson, Richard Pett, Stephen Radney-MacFarland, Patrick Renie, Sean K Reynolds, F. Wesley Schneider, James L. Sutter, Russ Taylor, and Stephen Townshend.

Pathfinder Roleplaying Game Ultimate Combat. © 2011, Paizo Publishing, LLC; Authors: Dennis Baker, Jesse Benner, Benjamin Bruck, Jason Bulmahn, Brian J. Cortijo, Jim Groves, Tim Hitchcock, Richard A. Hunt, Colin McComb, Jason Nelson, Tom Phillips, Patrick Renie, Sean K Reynolds, and Russ Taylor.

Pathfinder Roleplaying Game Ultimate Equipment. © 2012 Paizo Publishing, LLC; Authors: Dennis Baker, Jesse Benner, Benjamin Bruck, Ross Byers, Brian J. Cortijo, Ryan Costello, Mike Ferguson, Matt Goetz, Jim Groves, Tracy Hurley, Matt James, Jonathan H. Keith, Michael Kenway, Hal MacLean, Jason Nelson, Tork Shaw, Owen KC Stephens, and Russ Taylor.